
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Joint Chief Executive 

Rob Barlow 
 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

LB/COUNCIL/AG 

Please ask for: Lorraine Bush, Democratic Services Manager 
 
11 November 2022 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
 

MEETING OF THE COUNCIL - 21 NOVEMBER 2022 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Council on Monday, 21st November, 2022 at 
6.30 pm in the Council Chamber, Municipal Building, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR 

 
ROB BARLOW 
Joint Chief Executive 
 

 

AGENDA 
PART I - Preliminaries 

 

A. To sign the minutes of the meetings of the Council held on 26 September 
2022 attached at pages  
 

B. To receive apologies for absence. 
 
C. To receive communications (if any) from the Mayor and the Chief Executive. 
 
D. To receive deputations or petitions (if any) pursuant to Rules 12 and 13 of the 

Council’s Rules of Procedure. 
 

E. To answer questions (if any) from elected members pursuant to Rule 11 of the 
Council’s Rules of Procedure. 

 
F. To answer questions (if any) from members of the public pursuant to Rule 10 

of the Council’s Rules of Procedure  
 
G. To receive declarations by Members of any interests in respect of items on 

the agenda. 
 

Public Document Pack



 
PART Il –  AGENDA ITEMS 
 

Item 
No. 

Report Title Portfolio 
Holder  

 

 
1. 

 
South and East Lincolnshire Community Safety Strategy 
(Report by the Assistant Director – Wellbeing and Community 
Leadership)  
 

 
Cllr Paul 
Skinner 

 
2. 

 
Audit & Governance Committee Minutes 
(To receive the confirmed minutes of the meeting of the Audit & 
Governance Committee held on 18 July 2022) 
 

 
N/A 

 
3. 

 
Motion to Rescind a Previous Decision 
In accordance with Council Procedure Rule 19.1, it is hereby requested that the 
decisions made at the meeting of the Council held on 26 September 2022, in relation to 
the Financial Outturn 2021/22 report be rescinded and the report be re-submitted to the 
meeting of the Council to be held on 21 November 2022, noting the report had been 
considered by the Audit and Governance Committee on 3 October 2022.  
 

 
4. 

 
Financial Outturn 2021/22 
(Report by Chief Finance Officer (PSPS) and Assistant Director – 
Finance) 
 
Consideration subject to the Motion to Rescind a Previous Decision 
being agreed by Council 
 

 
Cllr 

Jonathan 
Noble 

 
5. 

 
To consider resolving that under Section 100(A)(iv) of the Local Government Act 
1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) 
Order 2006, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
item of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A of the Order. 

 

 
6. 

 
Honorary Freedom of the Borough 
(Report by the Democratic Services Delivery Manager) 

 
Cllr Paul 
Skinner 

 

 

 
Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two clear 
working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is  

5 p.m. on Wednesday 16 November 2022. 
 

 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except  
during the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

 



Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston  Telephone 01205 314224 or  
e-mail: lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 
Questions from Members of the Council and the public must be received by 5 p.m. two 
clear working days prior to the day of the meeting – the deadline for this meeting is  
5 p.m. on Wednesday 16 November 2022.  
 

 
 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Telephone 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 

mailto:lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
At the meeting of Boston Borough Council held in the Council Chamber, Municipal 
Buildings, Boston, on Monday, 26th September 2022  at 6.30 pm 
 
Present: 
The Mayor (Councillor Anne Dorrian) in the Chair 
Councillors Tracey Abbott, Tom Ashton, Alison Austin, Richard Austin BEM,  
Peter Bedford, Katie Chalmers, Michael Cooper, Anton Dani, Deborah Evans,  
Paul Goodale, Martin Griggs, Neill Hastie, Jonathan Noble, Frank Pickett, Brian Rush,  
Judith Skinner, Paul Skinner, Yvonne Stevens, Peter Watson, Judith Welbourn, 
Nigel Welton and Stephen Woodliffe 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Deputy Chief Executive – Growth, Assistant Director – Governance and 
Monitoring Officer, Senior Licensing Officer, and Democratic Services Delivery Manager. 
 
Also in attendance –  
Mr. Simon Sperring, Chairman of the Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
SILENCE FOR HM QUEEN ELIZABETH II 
 
Prior to the start of the meeting Council held a minute silence in memory of Her Majesty 
Queen Elizabeth II who passed away on 8 September 2022.  
 
29  MINUTES 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 25 July 2022 were taken as read and 
signed by the Mayor as a correct record.  
 
30  APOLOGIES 
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Alan Bell, George Cornah and 
Martin Howard. 
 
31 COMMUNICATIONS 
 
The Chief Executive expressed the Council’s thanks to everyone involved with the 
arrangements following the death of Her Majesty Queen Elizabeth II.   
 
The Mayor referred to the letters of condolence received from the Mayor of Laval and 
the Mayor of Hakusan following the death of HM The Queen, copies of which had been 
circulated for Members information. 
 
The Chief Executive reported on the sad passing of Councillor Angela Newton of South 
Holland District Council, who had served the Council and community of South Holland 
for over 50 years.  
 
32 DEPUTATIONS AND PETITIONS 
 
The Chief Executive reported there were no deputations or petitions. 

Page 1

Agenda Item A.



33 QUESTIONS FROM ELECTED MEMBERS 
 
The Chief Executive reported there were no questions from Elected Members. 
 
34 QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 
 
The Chief Executive reported there was a question from Mr. Darron Abbott.   
 
Question asked by Mr. Darron Abbott pursuant to paragraph 10 of the Rules of 
Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“The subject of fly tipping enforcement at the Tesco and Asda sites was discussed at 
scrutiny this time last year. The contract with Enfortis was up for renewal at the time, but 
it was agreed the renewal of the said contract would be delayed until November to allow 
proper scrutiny and approval by full Council. 
 
We find ourselves a year further down the line and I can find very little on the progress 
of this new contract. 
 
Councillor Evans please could you update us on the position of this contract for the 
enforcement at the Tesco and Asda sites and give us all a time scale for the Councils 
approval of this new agreement.” 
 
Response by Councillor Deborah Evans  
 
“The enviro-crime contract is currently being procured, with a tender submission 
deadline of 30 September 2022.  The submission will then be evaluated and tender 
awarded following the council’s contract procedure rules.  
 
Please note that this contract is for enviro-crime in its entirely, so encompasses littering, 
dog fouling, fly tipping and waste duty of care offences. Once the tender has been 
evaluated, any award will follow the decision making processes of the council.” 
 
Supplemental question asked by Mr. Abbott pursuant to paragraph 10.8 of the 
Rules of Procedure as set out in the Constitution:- 
 
“I specifically asked about the Enfortis contract that caused so many problems, if I 
remember correctly this was one of the reasons the Leader sacked Councillor Stevens 
from the Cabinet and appointed you. 
 
The Enfortis contract allegedly expired in the autumn of last year, I say allegedly as on 
the list of contracts very kindly supplied by Councillor Noble, there is no mention of a 
contract with Enfortis Limited or its predecessor Optimal Risk Limited. 
 
There is also no mention of the agreements with Tesco and Asda to enforce their private 
land.  I therefore have to question whether to believe any formal agreement was in 
place.  So it is blatantly obvious that you have just simply read out what some officer has 
written for you without checking the contents which I find disrespectful.  If you cannot be 
bothered please go see the Leader, resign and let someone who can be bothered do the 
job.”  
 

Page 2



 
 

 
 

Response by Councillor Evans.  
 
“I did answer the question and the information was correct.   
 
On the 24th August 2021 the pilot project for use of surveillance was extended to 
November 2021.  Due to delays in the procurement process, and the introduction of 
South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership in October 2021, I signed a decision 
notice to extend the pilot to October 2022 to enable the procurement of a cross SELCP 
enviro-crime enforcement contract.  The new cross SELCP enviro-crime enforcement 
contract is an agreed project within the Partnership’s Annual Delivery Plan.  
 
I am frustrated by the delays, but want to have tender process in place across the three 
authorities which will provide an opportunity for a high quality procurement offer.  
Scrutiny will be involved in the contract process.  I will not be resigning.” 
 
35 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
None. 
 
36 INDEPENDENT REMUNERATION PANEL REVIEW OF MEMBERS 

ALLOWANCES   
 
Mr. Simon Sperring, Chairman of the Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP) introduced 
a report setting out recommendations of the Panel following a review of the Members’ 
Allowance Scheme. 
 
The report stated that in accordance with the Local Authorities (Members Allowances) 
(England) Regulations 2003, Councils had a duty to consider the findings of an 
Independent Remuneration Panel prior to determining any councillors’ allowances 
scheme. 
 
Councils were required to have regard to the recommendations of an IRP but there was 
no specific requirement to approve the recommendations.  However, if the Council 
wished to make an alternative scheme reasoning would need to be provided.  
 
The IRP met on 8 July 2022 to commence a review of the members’ allowances for 
2022-23.  It was noted that in 2018 the Panel had undertaken a comprehensive review 
with the aim of establishing a remuneration framework that would hold good for at least 
four years.  
 
Having considered the current benchmarking information with other Lincolnshire 
authorities and those in the CIPFA ‘family group’ the Panel were of the opinion that it 
had largely achieved its aims and that a light touch review was all that was required for 
the financial year 2022-23. 
 
The Panel invited Members to submit comments on the current scheme of allowances 
which were taken into account during the Panel’s deliberations.  
 
 
 
 

Page 3



The Panel considered the key elements of the Members Allowances Scheme:- 
 

• Basic Allowance 

• Special Responsibility Allowances 

• Dependant Carers’ Allowance 

• Travel and Subsistence 
 
The Panel’s recommendations were to not increase any of the allowances, but to 
introduce a Special Responsibility Allowance for the position of Chairman of the Boston 
Town Area Committee in recognition of the workload, frequency of meetings and 
responsibility in exercising executive functions delegated from the Cabinet.  
 
It was also recommended to amend the wording of the Special Responsibility Allowance 
for attendance at Licensing Hearings, to include attendance at Standards Hearings.  
 
Having considered various options for linkage to an annual adjustment including the 
Retail Price Index and Consumer Price Index, the Panel expressed a preference to 
continue to link with staff pay awards for a four year period from April 2022.  
 
It was noted that the published Members Allowance Scheme did not make reference to 
the travel costs of the Mayor and Deputy Mayor being an approved duty under Schedule 
2 of the scheme.   
 
Since 2018 the Mayor and Deputy Mayor had been expected to drive themselves to 
Mayoral engagements and claim travel costs via the Members Allowance Scheme.  
Therefore the Panel recommended that the published Scheme be amended to include 
Mayoral travel costs as an approved duty.  
 
In concluding, Mr. Sperring stated that the key focus of the Panel when considering 
revisions to the scheme was to achieve allowances that would not deter an average 
working person from standing for Council, or result in Councillors being financially 
disadvantaged if they had to take unpaid leave from their employment to undertake 
Council duties.  
 
The Panel were of the view that the Members Allowance Scheme as proposed achieved 
that aim and commended it to Council. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, and seconded by Councillor Nigel 
Welton that:-  
 
1. That the basic allowance be retained at its current level of £4,692. 
 
2. That the special responsibility allowances be retained at current levels as 

set out in Appendix A. 
 
3. That the wording for the Special Responsibility Allowance for Licensing 

Hearing Panels be amended to Hearing Panels to include attendance at 
Standards Hearings. 

 

Page 4



 
 

 
 

4. That a Special Responsibility Allowance be introduced for the position of 
Chairman of the Boston Town Area Committee in the sum of £1280, 
backdated to 1 April 2022. 

 
5. That the Dependant Carers’ Allowance be retained at current levels. 
 
6. That the travel and subsistence rates be retained at current levels.  
 
7. That the basic allowance and special responsibility allowances be linked to 

staff pay awards for a four year period from 1 April 2022. 
 
8. That the published Members Allowance Scheme be updated to include 

Mayoral travel costs as an approved duty for the Mayor and Deputy Mayor 
within Schedule 2 of the Scheme. 

 
Members expressed concern that they were expected to set their own allowances, 
which was a distasteful situation, but accepted this was a requirement under current 
legislation.  
 
Some Members were of the opinion that the basic allowance should be increased to 
maintain value as the current cost of living crisis and high inflation was impacting 
everyone, including Councillors.  Allowances which did not recompense people fairly 
may deter some from putting themselves forward for election.  
 
Comments were made that the IRP had completed their review in a fair and equitable 
process and the recommendations should be supported.  There was never a good time 
to increase remuneration and with the current economic crisis affecting everyone in the 
community this would be the worst time. 
 
A suggestion was put forward that the allowances of Members across the SELCP 
should be considered as a whole to ensure equality as all Members had the same role 
to carry out.  Currently there were disparities in the amounts paid for basic allowances 
and SRAs across the authorities. 
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Peter Bedford and seconded by 
Councillor Peter Watson that the basic allowance be increased by 10% from 1 
April 2022.  
 
On being put to the vote the amendment was lost.  
 
The substantive motion was then put to the vote and it was: 
 
 

 
RESOLVED 
 
1. That the basic allowance be retained at its current level of £4,692. 
 
2. That the special responsibility allowances be retained at current levels as 

set out in Appendix A. 
 

Page 5



3. That the wording for the Special Responsibility Allowance for Licensing 
Hearing Panels be amended to Hearing Panels to include attendance at 
Standards Hearings. 

 
4. That a Special Responsibility Allowance be introduced for the position of 

Chairman of the Boston Town Area Committee in the sum of £1280, 
backdated to 1 April 2022. 

 
5. That the Dependant Carers’ Allowance be retained at current levels. 
 
6. That the travel and subsistence rates be retained at current levels.  
 
7. That the basic allowance and special responsibility allowances be linked to 

staff pay awards for a four year period from 1 April 2022. 
 
8. That the published Members Allowance Scheme be updated to include 

Mayoral travel costs as an approved duty for the Mayor and Deputy Mayor 

within Schedule 2 of the Scheme. 

 
37 AUDIT AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES  
 
It was moved by Councillor Peter Watson, seconded by Councillor Stephen 
Woodliffe that the confirmed minutes of the meeting of the Audit and Governance 
Committee held on 28 March 2022 be received. 
 
38 REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE POLICIES  
 
Councillor Paul Skinner introduced a report by the Senior Licensing Officer on proposed 
amendments to the policy documents for private hire and hackney carriage vehicles, 
proprietors, operators and drivers.  
 
The report stated that on 21 July 2020, the Department for Transport published the 
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards which had come into force with 
immediate effect.  Licensing Authorities had a legal duty to have regard to the standards 
and must provide clear reasoning for any departure from them. 
 
In response to the publication of the Standards, the Licensing Section proposed 
amendments to the current policies and guidance in respect of Hackney Carriage and 
Private Hire licences.  
 
The revised policies and guidance was considered by two working groups of the 
Licensing Committee on 10 December 2021 and 25 January 2022.  The documents 
were then updated to reflect Member comments and presented to the meeting of the 
Licensing committee on 15 March 2022, when it was agreed to publish the draft policies 
for consultation purposes. 
 
The consultation period ran for four weeks commencing on 1 April 2022.  On closure of 
the consultation no comments had been received from the public or taxi / private hire 
trade. 
 

Page 6



 
 

 
 

The policies and guidance were considered by the Licensing Committee on 2 August 
2022 and referred to Council for approval.  A copy of the proposed polices and guidance 
was attached at Appendix 1 of the report.  
 
Concern was expressed that there was no requirement for a drivers to undertake a 
driving ability test as part of the application process, which was in place in other local 
authority areas.  
 
Council welcomed the revised policies noting that the Licensing Committee and Hearing 
Panel took driver standards very seriously and there were strict requirements in the 
policies relating to drivers responsibilities.  
 
In summing up Councillor Skinner thanked the Licensing Team for their hard work and 
diligence in preparing the updated documents. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Frank Pickett 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED that the policy and guidance documents as set out at Appendix 1 of 
the report be adopted and published. 
 

 
39 PARTNERSHIP PERFORMANCE  
 
Councillor Paul Skinner introduced a report by the Assistant Director – Corporate setting 
out the further progress of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership since 
the last update to Council on 11 April 2022.  
 
The report set out the progress of Phase 2 of the Partnership Business Case – 
Accelerate, under the headings of:- 
 

• Transformation Plan – service reviews 

• Targeted service growth into areas of priority  

• Developed shared service policy through shared Member working 

• Explore opportunities for constitutional alignment  
 
An update was also provided in respect of the LGA Peer Review scheduled to take 
place between 10th to 14th October, the key themes of which would be:-  
 

• Priorities and outcomes 

• Organisational and place leadership 

• Governance and culture 

• Financial planning and management  

• Capacity for improvement 
 
The Peers’ findings and feedback would be reported to Council and fed into the 
Partnership’s development plans for 2023/24 and beyond.  
 

Page 7



Progress of the Annual Delivery Plan activity was set out in section 4 of the report, and it 
was noted that three priorities from the Strategic Programme were complete and 
embedded and the remaining seven were in progress.  
 
A number of key partnerships had been or were to be established as mechanisms for 
delivering the strategic priorities of the Partnership and were set out in Table 2 of the 
report, under the headings: 
 

• Growth and Prosperity  

• Healthy Lives  

• Safer Communities 

• Enhancing the Living  
 
Details of each of the partnership priorities were set out in section 5 of the report.  
 
It had been agreed to establish a joint scrutiny function to consider matters which had a 
common strategic interest across the Partnership.   An initial meeting had been held with 
the Chairman of the scrutiny committees’ across the authorities and general support had 
been expressed for a Task and Finish Group to be convened to consider Transport.  
 
In addition two joint scrutiny task groups were soon to commence on the topics of 
annual scrutiny of the partnership and ICT and Digital strategy. 
 
Council welcomed the report and noted the tangible achievements of the Partnership 
since it was first formed, the results of which were filtering through to Government. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED  
 
1. That the progress of Phase 2 of the Partnership (section 2) be noted. 

2. That the peer review update (section 3) be noted. 

3. That the Annual Delivery Plan (ADP) update (section 4) be noted. 

4. That the updates from the Priority Partnerships (section 5) be noted. 

5. That the update on the joint Scrutiny work (section 6) be noted.  
 

 
40 GENERAL FUND REVENUE AND CAPITAL OUTTURN 2021/22 
 
Councillor Jonathan Noble introduced a report by the Strategic Finance Manager 
(PSPS) setting out the draft financial position for the Council at the end of the 2021/22 
financial year, and seeking approval for the transfer and drawdown of reserve funds and 
carry forward of capital budget in the sum of £3.55m. 
 
It was moved by Councillor Johnathan Noble, and seconded by Councillor Paul 
Skinner  

Page 8



 
 

 
 

 
1. That the provisional year end position, variations to the 2021/22 approved 

budget and resulting effect on the Council’s balances and reserves as 
shown in Appendix A be noted.  

 
2. That the transfer of £1,830,999 to the Funding Volatility Reserve to fund the 

2022/23 budget, this being the Section 31 grant allocated to the Council in 
2021/22 but required in 2022/23, be approved.  

 
3. That the use of reserves as et out in Table 3 at Appendix A be noted and 

approved.  
 
4. That the drawdown of £1,864,887 from the Funding Volatility Reserve, the 

Section 31 grant set aside in 2020/21 to cover the reduced Business Rates 
received in 2021/22, be approved.  

 
5. That the final revenue surplus (currently estimated to be £165,024) be 

transferred to the Transformation Reserve to fund future projects to help 
realise future revenue savings and service improvements.  

 
The Chairman of the Audit and Governance Committee expressed concern that the 
recommendations proposed in report had not been referred to his committee for scrutiny 
prior to Council being asked to approve. 
 
An amendment was moved by Councillor Peter Watson and seconded by 
Councillor Brian Rush that the report be deferred until considered by the Audit 
and Governance Committee.  
 
On being put to the vote the amendment was lost.  
 
Debate continued regarding the high values Council was being asked to approve without 
scrutiny and that the appropriate forum would be the Audit and Governance Committee 
where in depth questions could be asked, which was not possible at Council.  
 
In response, the Chief Executive confirmed that there would be no detriment to the 
Council if the decisions were delayed to allow for consideration by the Audit and 
Governance Committee  
 
Councillor Paul Skinner withdrew his seconding of the proposition.  
 
The proposition was then seconded by Councillor Anton Dani. 
 
The substantive motion was then put to the vote and was lost. 
 
(The report was then scheduled for the Audit and Governance Committee to be held on 
Monday 3 October). 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



41 EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS 
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 
and  
 

 
RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(iv) of the Local Government Act 1972, as 
amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) Order 2006, 
the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involved the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 1 of Schedule 12A of the Order. 
 

 
(Councillor Deborah Evans left the meeting at 9.15 p.m.) 

 
42 MEETING TO CONTINUE 
 
It was moved by Councillor Paul Skinner, seconded by Councillor Nigel Welton 
and  
 
RESOLVED that the meeting continue past the 3 hour guillotine. 

 
 
43 DISPENSATION FOR NON-ATTENDANCE  
 
The report was considered in private session as it contained exempt information.  
However, in the public interest a redacted version of the resolution is set out below: 
 
 

 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That a dispensation for non-attendance be granted to Councillor Viven 
Edge 
 

2. That delegated authority be granted to the Chief Executive, in consultation 
with Political Group Leaders, to consider future requests for dispensations 
where a timely meeting of full Council was not scheduled to be held.  

 

 
A copy of the exempt full minute and resolution has been lodged separately by the 
Council. 
 
 

 (The meeting ended at 9.28 p.m.) 

Page 10



Document is Restricted

Page 11

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

 

REPORT TO: COUNCIL 

DATE: 21ST NOVEMBER 2022 

SUBJECT: 

 

PURPOSE:  

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY 

 

TO RECOMMEND ADOPTION OF THE SOUTH AND EAST 

LINCOLNSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY 2022-25 

KEY DECISION: N/A 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR PAUL SKINNER (LEADER & PORTFOLIO HOLDER) 

REPORT OF: 

 

REPORT AUTHOR: 

EMILY SPICER, ASSISTANT DIRECTOR – WELLBEING AND 

COMMUNITY LEADERSHIP 
 

PETER HUNN, COMMUNITY SAFETY MANAGER / SARAH COCKER, 

COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIPS OFFICER / DEE BEDFORD, 

COMMUNITY SAFETY & ENFORCEMENT MANAGER 

 

WARD(S) AFFECTED: ALL 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

SUMMARY 

This report sets out the duties placed on local authorities and other named statutory agencies in 
relation to crime and disorder (Sections 5-7 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998). It outlines the 
current Community Safety Partnership (CSP) arrangements across the South and East 
Lincolnshire Councils Partnership (S&ELCP), and in Lincolnshire as a whole.   

A Community Safety Strategy has been produced to demonstrate the work of the South and 
East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership (SELCSP) which is working collaboratively with 
the County Safer Lincolnshire Partnership (SLP), as they seek to address crime and disorder at a 
local, sub-regional and County level.  Cabinet is asked to support the recommendation to adopt 
the strategy for the period April 2022 to March 2025. 
 

 

 

 

Page 13

Agenda Item 1



 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. That the Community Safety Strategy and identified priorities for the SELCSP for the 
period 2022-25 be adopted. 
 

2. That delegated authority be granted for the Deputy Chief Executive (Communities) to 
finalise with the relevant Portfolio Holders a programme for the development of a 
Community Safety Action Plan. 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 

To demonstrate and confirm the commitment of the South and East Lincolnshire Community 

Safety Partnership in working with the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership (SLP) to meet the statutory 

duties set out in the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and address crime and disorder at a local 

level. 

 

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED 

Continue to operate the SELCSP without producing a formal plan, at the expense of recognising 

the work undertaken locally to address crime and disorder across the S&ELCP. 

 

1. BACKGROUND 

 

1.1. CSPs (formerly known as Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships) were formed under 

Sections 5-7 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. CSPs are made up of representatives from the 

police, local authorities, fire and rescue authorities, health and probation services (the 

‘responsible authorities’). The responsible authorities have a duty to work in co-operation with 

other ‘co-operating bodies’ for example Registered Social Landlords and Parish Councils. 

 

1.2. This report outlines the community safety landscape across the South and East Lincolnshire 

Councils (S&ELCP) geographical area and Lincolnshire as a whole, setting out the statutory 

duties placed on responsible authorities and the arrangements for how these are met in 

Lincolnshire. 

 

2. REPORT 

 

2.1. The 2007 Crime and Disorder Regulations (revised in 2011) set out the way in which the 

responsible authorities should carry out their functions as a CSP under Section 6 of the Act, and 

require the preparation of:  

 

1) A partnership plan for the local government area,  

Page 14



2) A county level community safety agreement, setting out the ways the responsible 

authorities in the county might work more effectively to implement the identified priorities 

by joint working. 

 

2.2. The responsible authorities for a local government area are required to formulate and 

implement a strategy for: 

 

1) the reduction of crime and disorder in the area (including anti-social and other behaviour 

adversely affecting the local environment), 

2) combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol, and other substances in the area,  

3) the reduction of re-offending in the area,  

4) a new duty to formulate and implement a strategy for preventing people from becoming 

involved in serious violence and reducing instances of serious violence in the area. 

 

2.3. CSPs have other statutory duties that must be fulfilled: - 

 

1) to set up protocols and systems for information sharing, 

2) to regularly engage and consult with the public about their community safety priorities and 

issues, 

3) to commission Domestic Homicide Reviews (DHRs) following notification from the Police of 

a domestic homicide, 

4) to hold one or more public meeting during each year. 

 

2.4. In addition to the above, Section 17 of the Crime & Disorder Act 1998 places a duty on all 

employees of responsible authorities to take into consideration crime and disorder in 

everything they do. 

 

2.5. Working in partnership at a sub-region (SELCSP) and at a county level (SLP) enables the District 

Councils in the SELCSP to discharge their statutory duties. Examples include:  

 

1) Regularly engage and consult with the public – this had been discharged by the SLP to the 

Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) who has a duty to consult the community before 

making recommendations on precept levels to the Police and Crime Panel. 

2) Commission DHR reviews - The DHR duty will be delegated to the recently formed Domestic 

Abuse Partnership. 

 

3. SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY PARTNERSHIP 

 

3.1. The SELCSP covers the municipal areas of South Holland District Council, Boston Borough 

Council and East Lindsey District Council (collectively known as the South and East Lincolnshire 

Councils Partnership).  Each local authority offers a range of community safety services to 

support a joined-up approach with partners.  For example, provision of CCTV, addressing Anti-

Social Behaviour (including coordination of the Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment 

Conferences and Community Trigger), Public Places Protection Orders, emergency planning, 

Vulnerable Adults Panels (South Holland) and a safe at home scheme for victims of domestic 

abuse (East Lindsey). 

 

Page 15



3.2. Up to the end of March 2019, the SELCSP (formerly the East Lincolnshire Community Safety 

Partnership) routinely produced a partnership plan for reducing crime and disorder across the 

area. 

 

3.3. Over the last three years, the SELCSP has operated in a less formal way, acting as a conduit for 

cascading information from the SLP to the district level, whilst maintaining local links between 

the responsible authorities to facilitate multi-agency working when required. It is now felt with 

the development of the South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership a return to more 

formal arrangements is required. Linked to this is the need to develop a Community Safety Plan 

for the sub-region.   

 

3.4. The newly formed S&ELCP, between the three sovereign councils in the SELCSP area, provides a 

good grounding to support local community safety work, working with all relevant partners and 

complimenting (not duplicating) the work of the county level SLP. 

 

3.5. The SLP is the multi-agency forum for addressing community safety issues at a Lincolnshire 

County level and aims (working alongside others such as the SELCSP) to:  

 

1. Reduce crime and disorder and increase the safety of individuals and communities, 

2. Ensure those living, working, or visiting Lincolnshire feel safe and are equipped to cope 

with any hazards or threats they may encounter. 

3. Improve communication between agencies so they can work effectively. 

 

3.6. The SLP consists of a Strategy Board and several Core Priority Groups, which coordinate and 

deliver activity against the priority areas.  Lincolnshire County Council primarily funds the Safer 

Communities Team, which provides Business Management, Co-ordination, Analysis and 

Business Support for the SLP. 

 

4. POLICE & CRIME COMMISSIONER 

 

4.1. The Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 introduced elected Police & Crime 

Commissioners (PCCs) for each police force, responsible for developing a Police & Crime Plan 

(PCP) for their local area and for commissioning community safety and criminal justice 

services. 

 

4.2. PCCs must have regard to the priorities of the responsible authorities making up the CSPs in 

the police area, and the responsible authorities must have regard to the objectives set out in 

the PCP, and to act in co-operation with each other in exercising their respective functions. 

Oversight of the PCC lies with the Police and Crime Panel, a joint committee that includes 

County and district council representatives. 

 

4.3. In July 2020, the Minister of State for Crime and Policing announced a two-part review of the 

PCC model.  The first stage of the review made recommendations to the Home Secretary on 

how to improve the accountability, scrutiny, and transparency of the current PCC model. It 

also served to map out longer-term reform ambitions in relation to fire and rescue services 

and mayoral devolution in England.  

 

Page 16



4.4. Part two of the PCC review aimed to examine further ways to strengthen and expand the PCC 

role, with a focus on the tools and levers that PCCs need to enhance efforts to cut crime. 

Recommendations from the review have been set out by government and include clarifying 

the local crime prevention landscape through an in-depth review of Community Safety 

Partnerships in England and Wales. 

 

 

5. DEVELOPMENT OF THE SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COMMUNITY SAFETY STRATEGY 

 

5.1. A strategy has been prepared using the format of the last partnership plan (2016-2019). An 

action plan for the year ahead (2022-2023) will support the strategy and will sit with the 

SELCSP.  Information from the county strategic assessment has been reviewed along with 

routine data on crime and ASB from Lincolnshire Police, information from the pilot initiative 

StreetSafe (which allows people to anonymously report areas they feel unsafe), and 

perception data from the Lincolnshire Crime and Policing Survey. This has been considered 

alongside the county priorities identified for the SLP. Five priority area have been identified 

which are detailed in the plan: 

 

5.2. Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) - Tackling ASB is a core role for the partnership with dedicated 

ASB Officers and Police Coordinators working together and with other agencies daily. We 

address high risk and complex ASB cases through multi-agency Anti-Social Behaviour Risk 

Assessment Conferences (ASBRACs). The district councils coordinate the Community Trigger 

(also known as the Anti-Social Behaviour Case Review) which gives victims the right to demand 

a formal case review where the local threshold is met. 

 

5.3. Hate Crime – Through working more closely with Just Lincolnshire (the single equality 

organisation in the county) it has been identified that reporting of Hate Crime in Lincolnshire 

has decreased by 12.5% in 2020-21 compared to 2019-20, a reversal of year on year increases 

over the last decade and against a 9% increase nationally. This is concerning, particularly as 

Hate Crime is widely acknowledged to be underreported. The SELCSP seeks to work to raise 

awareness of hate crime, targeting individuals and groups who are more likely to be victims, 

and ensure there are a variety of methods for people to report Hate Crimes and incidents with 

confidence.  

 

5.4. Safer Streets & Night-Time Economy – Community safety work to support the Night-Time 

Economy and the safety of our streets within urban centres and local neighbourhoods 

provides greater opportunities for local businesses and communities to thrive with a reduced 

risk of crime and disorder. Government’s Beating Crime Plan gives focus to early intervention, 

prevention, and practical measures to make communities safer, and to tackle serious violence 

and neighbourhood crimes. The Safer Streets Fund has enabled improvements to be made to 

CCTV and ANPR capacity in East Lindsey, amongst other measures, to bring focus to safety at 

the neighbourhood level. Multi-agency working between police and ELDC licensing officers, 

utilising the drugs itemiser provides a real opportunity to increase safety during the evening 

hours and gives scope for widening this work across the partnership area, facilitated by the 

SELCSP. 

 

  

Page 17



5.5. The Safety of Women & Girls – Using local data and information, a bid was submitted to 

round four of the Safer Streets fund and was successful in bringing nearly £400k to the 

partnership area. This will support work on Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG) in 

public places and aims to increase feelings of safety. CCTV was cited as something that would 

increase feelings of safety amongst local college students in Skegness and this is central to the 

bid.  A Sexual Violence Needs Assessment, commissioned by the PCC in 2020, showed that 

densely populated areas have the highest volume of offences.  Public engagement undertaken 

by the PCC’s Office also identifies that people worrying about being raped or sexually 

assaulted has risen year on year. Using police crime data and information from StreetSafe it 

has been possible to identify hot spot locations where harassment is the most frequently 

reported issue in Boston, Skegness, and Spalding. These areas are the focus of the bid, 

incorporating key night-time economy areas and pedestrian routes which have been identified 

as being disproportionately affected by VAWG. This compliments other work streams including 

the Women’s Concordat, which aims to improve outcomes for women and girls at risk of 

entering or who have already entered the criminal justice sector, and ensures it is embedded 

within local work streams to keep our sub-region a safe area to live, work and visit. 

 

5.6. Vulnerability & Safeguarding – Information from the Index of Multiple Deprivation shows that 

people living in the 10% most deprived neighbourhoods in Lincolnshire are three times more 

likely to have an adult safeguarding enquiry than those living in the least deprived areas, 

nearly four times likely to be a victim of crime, and nearly six times more likely to be in 

children’s social care. The second and third most deprived areas in the county can be found 

within our sub-region - Skegness and Chapel St Leonards.  Frontline officers, including police, 

council and health workers, encounter children and vulnerable adults on a regular basis, it is 

imperative that they are invested in safeguarding and adequately trained to carry out their 

duties competently. Recent cases of modern-day slavery and exploitation in Boston and South 

Holland demonstrate the need for officers and the public to report any suspicions. The SELCSP 

can drive work locally to ensure that officers can identify signs of issues such as sexual 

exploitation, county lines, modern slavery, and serious and organised crime, as well as 

understanding more recent approaches such as Contextual Safeguarding. 

 

6. CONCLUSION 

 

6.1 Sections 5-7 of the Crime & Disorder Act 1998 set out the way in which the responsible 

authorities should carry out their functions as a CSP.  

 

6.2 In Lincolnshire the responsible authorities work as a combined area to fulfil the statutory duties 

through the South and East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership and the County SLP. 

The SELCSP is an informally merged CSP covering the S&ELCP area. For the last three years the 

SELCSP has not produced a strategy, however, it is recognised that the work undertaken locally 

should be recognised and communicated to our partners and the public. A strategy has 

therefore been produced to promote the dedication and commitment of partners working 

across the S&ELCP in tackling crime and ASB and aims to provide a focus for actions to be 

developed to address the priority community safety issues that impact on communities within 

the sub-region.  

 

  

Page 18



EXPECTED BENEFITS TO THE PARTNERSHIP 

The Community Safety Strategy has been developed as a cross-partnership strategy aiming to 

communicate our priorities and aspirations for keeping our communities safe. It highlights the 

strength of local partnership arrangements; and provides reputational benefits to the S&ELCP as a 

driver of local action to tackle crime and disorder.  The proposed Community Safety Strategy will 

support our delivery against our statutory community safety responsibilities working alongside key 

partners. 

 

IMPLICATIONS 

SOUTH AND EAST LINCOLNSHIRE COUNCILS PARTNERSHIP 

The Community Safety Strategy demonstrates the commitment of the S&ELCP in keeping our 

communities safe and outlines how this can be achieved by working with external partners. It 

establishes the ambition of the SELCSP to maintain autonomy within the CSP structures in 

Lincolnshire. 

CORPORATE PRIORITIES 

The Community Safety Strategy supports the following corporate priorities: 

• Boston Borough Council – ‘Priority 1 - People Focused’ (main priority) 

• East Lindsey District Council – ‘Improve equality of opportunity across the district and in 

target areas’  

• South Holland District Council – ‘Your Place’ and ‘Your Health and Wellbeing’ 

The production of a Community Safety Strategy is a strategic activity within the S&ELCP Annual 

Delivery Plan 2022-23.  

STAFFING 

Current staffing resource across the partnership will support the delivery of the strategy with 

additional resources identified through further funding as necessary.  

CONSTITUTIONAL AND LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

The statutory duties required of CSPs, as set out in the Crime & Disorder Act 1998, which are met 

through working with the County SLP which works as a combined area for Lincolnshire.  

DATA PROTECTION 

Data Protection will be dealt with under the partnership’s information sharing agreements. 

FINANCIAL 

External funding has been granted through the government Safer Streets Fund which will support 
the Safer Streets and Safety Against Women and Girls priorities. Further funding opportunities will 
be sought wherever possible to support delivery of the plan. That aside, delivery will be managed 
from existing partner commitments and resources.  

RISK MANAGEMENT 

All risks will be managed as part of the strategy and action plan development as appropriate.  

 

Page 19



STAKEHOLDER / CONSULTATION / TIMESCALES 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Portfolio Holders of each sovereign council, members 

of the South and East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership and with key officers across the 

S&ELCP (Corporate Management and Service Managers). Feedback has been positive and 

constructive; the version presented incorporates suggested additions and amendments to an initial 

draft. 

The delivery timeframe for the Community Safety Strategy (as set out in the Annual Delivery Plan) 

is Quarter 2, 2022. 

REPUTATION 

The Community Safety Strategy will have a positive impact on the reputation of the S&ELCP as it 

shows our dedication to improving the safety and wellbeing of our local communities. 

CRIME AND DISORDER 

The Community Safety Strategy supports delivery of duties placed on responsible authorities in the 

Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 

EQUALITY AND DIVERSITY/ HUMAN RIGHTS/ SAFEGUARDING 

The priorities within the strategy seek to address discrimination, harassment, and victimisation, 

and promote safeguarding of vulnerable people within our communities.   

HEALTH AND WELL BEING 

The Community Safety Strategy aims to address ASB and crime, which can have a detrimental 

impact on people’s health and wellbeing. Victim engagement and referral to additional support 

services is an integral part of its delivery.  

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS 

None 

LINKS TO 12 MISSIONS IN THE LEVELLING UP WHITE PAPER  

MISSIONS 
This paper contributes to the follow Missions outlined in the Government’s Levelling Up White 

paper. 

Wellbeing By 2030, well-being will have improved in every area of the UK, with the 
gap between top performing and other areas closing. 

Pride in Place By 2030, pride in place, such as people’s satisfaction with their town centre 
and engagement in local culture and community, will have risen in every 
area of the UK, with the gap between the top performing and other areas 
closing. 

Crime By 2030, homicide, serious violence, and neighbourhood crime will have 
fallen, focused on the worst-affected areas. 

 

ACRONYMS 

CSP – Community Safety Partnership 

S&ELCP – South and East Lincolnshire Councils Partnership 

SELCSP – South and East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership 

Page 20



SLP - Safer Lincolnshire Partnership 

DHR – Domestic Homicide Review 

PCC- Police and Crime Commissioner 

ASB – Anti-Social Behaviour 

ASBRAC - Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conferences 

VAWG – Violence Against Women and Girls 

 

APPENDICES 

Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A South & East Lincolnshire Community Safety Strategy April 

2022 to March 2025 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: - 

Document title Where the document can be viewed 

Crime & Disorder Act 1998 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 (legislation.gov.uk) 

Beating Crime Plan Beating crime plan - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

South & East Lincolnshire Councils 

Partnership Annual Delivery Plan 

2022/2023.  

S&ELCP Annual Delivery Plan 2022-23 

 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

Cabinet – 7 September 2022 

Corporate and Community Committee – 6 October 2022 

Cabinet – 9 November 2022 

 

REPORT APPROVAL  

Report author: Peter Hunn 

Community Safety Manager 

Boston Borough Council 

Municipal Buildings, West Street 

Boston 

Lincolnshire 

PE21 8QR 

E-mail: Peter.Hunn@boston.gov.uk 

Page 21

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/beating-crime-plan
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/media/20475/S-ELCP-Annual-Delivery-Plan-2022-2023/pdf/MASTER__Annual_Delivery_Plan_22.23_-_Council.pdf?m=637847713477170000


Signed off by: John Leach, Deputy Chief Executive - Communities 

Boston Borough Council 

Municipal Buildings, West Street 

Boston 

Lincolnshire 

PE21 8QR 

E-mail: John.Leach@boston.gov.uk 

Approved for publication: Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder, 

Councillor Paul Skinner, Boston Borough Council 

 

 

Page 22



South & East Lincolnshire 

Community Safety Strategy
April 2022 to March 2025

P
age 23



SELCSP

Health

Lincolnshire 
Police

Police and 
Crime 

Commissioner's 
Office

Lincolnshire 
County 
Council

Safer 
Lincolnshire 
Partnership

Registered 
Social 

Landlords

Probation

Lincolnshire 
Fire & 
Rescue

South and East 
Lincolnshire 

Councils 
Partnership 
(BBC, ELDC, 

SHDC)

Community Safety Partnerships were introduced by the Crime and Disorder Act 

(1998) which places a statutory duty on responsible authorities to work 

together to reduce crime and disorder.

The South and East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership (SELCSP) is an 

informally merged partnership administered through the South and East 

Lincolnshire Councils Partnership, covering the Lincolnshire districts of Boston 

Borough, East Lindsey, and South Holland. The SELCSP is made up of statutory 

agencies along with representatives from the Safer Lincolnshire Partnership 

(SLP) and the Lincolnshire Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office.

At a county level, the SLP is the informally merged partnership for Lincolnshire. 
It is responsible with the SELCSP for meeting the statutory duties required of 
Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs). This includes the preparation and 
implementation of a strategy to reduce crime and disorder, anti-social 
behaviour, substance misuse, reducing reoffending and preventing and tackling 
serious violence.

This strategy sets out the local priorities and work streams for the SELCSP over 
next three years.

The South & East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership’s vision:

“We will combine our knowledge, powers and expertise to reduce anti-social behaviour, crime, and the fear of crime in 
South and East Lincolnshire, to ensure that the area remains one of the safest places to live, work and visit”

2

Introduction

P
age 24



Delivering a Safer South and East Lincolnshire

CCTV

• Monitoring of public 
spaces

• Operational 24 hours 
a day, 365 days a year

• 810 incidents 
witnessed by CCTV 
operators in 2021-
2022

• 210 live arrests that 
CCTV operators 
contributed to in 
2021-2022 

Public Spaces 
Protection Orders

• Ensuring public spaces 
can be enjoyed free 
from Anti-Social 
Behaviour (ASB)

• In specific areas across 
the partnership to 
address issues such as 
alcohol-related ASB, 
control of dogs, 
littering and spitting

• Incremental approach 
used to tackle 
persistent offenders

Prevent

• Identifying and 
supporting people 
who may be at risk of 
radicalisation

• Helping communities 
to identify and 
challenge violent 
extremism 
appropriately

Communication and 
Engagement

• Quarterly police 
priority setting 
incorporating the 
views of the public

• Routine crime 
prevention and safety 
messages throughout 
the year

• The Police and Crime 
Commissioner’s Safer 
Together Team –
working directly with 
local communities

3

All partners of the SELCSP are actively working to reduce crime and anti-social behaviour on a daily basis. We use 
the technology, resources, tools and powers available to us to keep our communities safe.

P
age 25



What you said – Public Consultation

Each year the Police and Crime Commissioner engages and consults with the residents of Lincolnshire on 
crime and policing. Below are respondent’s views from Boston Borough, East Lindsey and South Holland.

• Over half of residents (52%) in Boston Borough said that their quality life is affected by fear of crime, giving 
a score of 5 or more on a scale of 1 to 10 (with 1 being not at all affected and 10 being severely affected). 
This compares to 43% of residents in South Holland and 35% in East Lindsey.  

• More people in South Holland (74%) and Boston Borough (72%) view speeding traffic to be a ‘very big’ or 
‘fairly big’ problem than residents of East Lindsey (66%).

• Residents of Boston Borough are more likely to regard ‘…people using or dealing drugs’ as a ‘very big’ or 
‘fairly big’ problem in their local area (55%), compared to 49% in South Holland and 39% in East Lindsey.

• Around a third of residents perceive burglary to be a ‘very big’ or ‘fairly big’ problem  - 36% in Boston 
Borough, 33% in East Lindsey and 31% in South Holland.

• 27% of residents aged under 50 in Boston Borough had reported a crime or incident to Lincolnshire Police, 
compared to 23% in South Holland and 22% in East Lindsey.

Source: Lincolnshire Crime & Policing Survey 2021-22 4

P
age 26



What you said – StreetSafe
StreetSafe is a pilot initiative introduced as part of the 
Government’s response to tackling violence against women and 
girls. It provides an online facility for anyone to anonymously report 
public places where you have felt unsafe because of environmental 
issues, such as vandalism, and/or because of some behaviours, 
such as being followed or verbally abused. 

Environmental

• Badly lit / poor or no street 

lighting.

• Signs of drug or alcohol use.

• Restricted visibility - overgrown 

bushes and trees, walls.  

• Empty buildings or isolated places.  

• Absence of CCTV.

• Rundown e.g. derelict buildings, 

abandoned cars, graffiti, fly-

tipping etc.

• Poor street layout e.g. blind spots 

and hidden areas.

Behavioural

• Feeling like you are being 

followed / have previously 

been followed.

• Verbal harassment from a 

single stranger or a group of 

people.

• Other forms of harassment.

Source: Lincolnshire Police via StreetSafe on Police.UK (data covering the first 6 months of the pilot) 5

59 people identified 

environmental and behavioural 

issues via StreetSafe across 

Boston Borough (38 reports), East 

Lindsey (14 reports) and South 

Holland (7 reports). Most reports 

were made by females (38), with 

14 reports by males and 2 reports 

by people who preferred not to 

say.

P
age 27



Our priorities

Identification of:

• sexual exploitation

• modern-day slavery 

• county lines

• serious & organised crime

• Lincolnshire Concordat

• Safer Streets Fund  
Round 4

• Promotion of StreetSafe

• White Ribbon Day

•Safer Streets Fund  
Round 2 – addressing 
neighbourhood crime

•Promotion of StreetSafe

•Operation California

• Raising Awareness 

• Hate Crime Charter

• Promotion of 
reporting mechanisms

Hate Crime

Safer Streets 
& Night-Time 
Economy

Vulnerability 
& 

Safeguarding

The Safety of 
Women & 
Girls

Activity against each of these key priorities will be monitored by the SELCSP via an action plan

6

Tackling 
Anti-Social 
Behaviour

The South & East Lincolnshire Community Safety Partnership has identified key areas of focus for the next three years:

P
age 28



Our priorities in more detail

7

Tackling
Anti-Social Behaviour

Top five reported ASB incidents by type (Lincolnshire Police)

ASB Category Boston 
Borough

East 

Lindsey

South 

Holland

Inconsiderate 

Behaviour
596 1046 487

Neighbours 184 599 251

Drunken Behaviour 184 281 123

Vehicle Nuisance 134 214 206

Noise Nuisance 133 186 130

Total 1231 2326 1197

Informal action taken to tackle ASB across the partnership area 21-22

Stage 1 warning letter 247

Stage 2 warning letter 58

Acceptable Behaviour Agreement 12

Tackling ASB is a core role for the partnership with dedicated ASB 
Officers and Police ASB coordinators working together with other 
agencies on a daily basis.

Over 10,500 incidents of ASB were reported to Lincolnshire Police 
alone across the partnership area in 2021-22.

We are part of the Lincolnshire ASB Partnership, working with 
agencies to tackle ASB through countywide policies and procedures 
and sharing best practice.

ASB is consistently identified by our communities as a priority area at 
quarterly policing priority setting.

We address high risk and complex ASB cases through multi-agency 
Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conferences (ASBRACs).

The district councils coordinate the Community Trigger (also known 
as the Anti-Social Behaviour Case Review) which gives victims the 
right to demand a formal case review where the local threshold is met.

P
age 29



Our priorities in more detail

A hate crime or incident is any crime or incident which is perceived by the 
victim, or any other person, to be motivated by hostility or prejudice 
based on a person's actual or perceived social group or groups

Hate crimes and incidents can take many forms, including physical attacks, 
threats, verbal abuse, neighbour disputes, arson, graffiti, intimidation or 
harassment, bullying at school, college or work.

Reports of hate crime in Lincolnshire reduced by 12.5% in 2020-21 
compared to the previous year – a contradictory trend to the national 
increase of 9% over the same period. We believe that hate crimes and 
incidents are under-reported by victims.

We are working with Just Lincolnshire (the single equality organisation in 
the county) to raise the profile of hate crime in our communities, and 
amongst our staff, so that people can recognise when a hate crime or 
incident has occurred.

We aim to support our diverse communities in reporting hate crimes and 
incidents, ensuring there are a variety of ways in which to share the 
information, so that they can receive support and guidance. We aim to 
create a culture within our communities where hate is not tolerated.

8

Hate 
Crime

The law recognises five types of hate crime on 
the basis of:

• Race
• Religion
• Disability
• Sexual orientation
• Transgender identity

P
age 30



Our Priorities In More Detail

Government’s Beating Crime Plan gives focus to early intervention, 
prevention, and practical measures to make communities safer, and to 
tackle serious violence and neighbourhood crimes.

Round two of the Government’s Safer Streets Fund has enabled 
improvements to be made to CCTV and ANPR capacity in East Lindsey, 
amongst other measures, to bring focus to safety at the 
neighbourhood level. 

In addition, multi-agency working through ‘Operation California’ 
between Lincolnshire Police, East Lindsey District Council and other 
agencies, provides engagement opportunities with pubs and clubs  
along the coast. The use of the drugs itemiser, which can detect drug 
residue on people and surfaces, helps to tackle drug use and dealing 
in our communities, as well as wider issues such as ASB. 

We are committed to expanding this work across the partnership area, 
working together and sharing resources to tackle the issues 
highlighted by our communities.

9

Safer 
Streets & 
Night Time 
Economy

P
age 31



Our Priorities In More Detail
The Safety 
of Women 
& Girls

National data* shows that men are more likely than women to be a victim of homicide.  However, 
women are far more likely to be the victims of sexual assault and rape than men. In addition, the 
overwhelming majority of homicides, rapes and sexual assaults are carried out by men.

When we look at perceptions of personal safety, women are much more likely to feel unsafe when 
alone after dark. This is the case if they are walking alone in a park or other open space, a busy 
public place or in a quiet street near their home. Women also consistently report higher fear of 
crime than men, despite being less likely to be victims of many types of crime.

Locally, the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Lincolnshire Youth Commission engaged with over 
1000 young people and identified sexual assaults or street harassment as the biggest threats to 
their safety. Street harassment and stalking has also been directly raised as an issue at public 
engagement events undertaken by the Safer Together Team in Spalding, Boston and Skegness.

Working with the Police and Crime Commissioner’s Office we have secured funding through round 
four of the Government’s Safer Streets Fund with a primary focus on Violence Against Women and 
Girls (VAWG) in public places and feelings of safety from VAWG.

This funding will enable us to create Safe Zones Areas as routes that will have blanket CCTV coverage 
from night-clubs and public houses to all recognised taxi ranks, bus stops and regular pick-up points.
The funding will also provide the installation of ‘Artificial Intelligence’ servers alongside the new 
CCTV cameras to allow police officers to search footage quickly using details such as clothing 
description or vehicle type.

*Source: Office for National Statistics 10

P
age 32



Our Priorities In More Detail

Safeguarding is everyone's responsibility. We work 
closely with various agencies to promote people's 
welfare and protect them from harm.

All employees of our agencies have a role to play in 
identifying concerns, sharing information and taking 
prompt action when issues are identified.

We have safeguarding policies that provide guidance 
to officers, to protect people's health, wellbeing and 
human rights, and to prevent problems escalating to 
enable them to live free from harm, abuse or neglect.

The SELCSP is committed to driving work locally to 
ensure that officers can identify signs of issues such as 
sexual exploitation, county lines, modern slavery, and 
serious and organised crime, and taking the necessary 
action to have this investigates further.

11

Vulnerability 
& 

Safeguarding

P
age 33



How you can help us 

Report crime and 
hate crime 

• Report a crime | 
Lincolnshire 
Police 
(lincs.police.uk)

• Home - Stop Hate 
UK

Report unsafe 
locations 

• StreetSafe | 
Police.uk 
(www.police.uk)

Contact 
Crimestoppers 

• Contact 
Crimestoppers to 
remain 
anonymous on 
0800 555 111 or 
visit 
Crimestoppers 
(crimestoppers-
uk.org)

Report anti-social 
behaviour

• Report antisocial 
behaviour | 
Lincolnshire 
Police

• Contact your local 
council ASB team

Follow Crime 
Prevention Advice

• Improve security 
on your property

• Crime prevention 
advice | 
Lincolnshire 
Police 
(lincs.police.uk)

Volunteer

• Police support 
volunteer 
vacancies 

• Join or set up a 
Neighbourhood 
Watch Group in 
your local area 

Have Your Say

• Contribute to the 
Police & Crime 
Commissioner’s 
police and crime 
survey 

• Contribute to 
your local 
Neighbourhood 
Policing Team’s 
priority setting

12

Residents play a vital role in supporting us to keep our communities safe.  We need your help in meeting our vision 
to keep our area one of the safest places to live, work and visit. Small contributions from the public can make a 
huge difference overall. Please follow our suggestions below to play your part in helping us to help you.P

age 34

https://www.lincs.police.uk/ro/report/ocr/af/how-to-report-a-crime/
https://www.stophateuk.org/
https://www.police.uk/pu/notices/streetsafe/street-safe/
https://crimestoppers-uk.org/
https://www.lincs.police.uk/ro/report/asb/asb/report-antisocial-behaviour/
https://www.lincs.police.uk/cp/crime-prevention/
https://www.lincs.police.uk/police-forces/lincolnshire-police/areas/careers/join-us/vacancies/police-support-volunteer-vacancies/


Useful Websites 

Boston Borough Council (mybostonuk.com)

East Lindsey District Council (e-lindsey.gov.uk)

South Holland District Council (sholland.gov.uk)

Lincolnshire County Council (Lincolnshire.gov.uk)

Lincolnshire Police (lincs.police.uk)

Lincolnshire's Police and Crime Commissioner (lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk)

Lincolnshire Fire and Rescue (Lincolnshire.gov.uk/Lincolnshire-fire-rescue)

Lincolnshire Integrated Care Board (Lincolnshire.icb.nhs.uk)

Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Trust (lpft.nhs.uk)

Safer Lincolnshire Partnership (Lincolnshire.gov.uk/crime-prevention/safer-
Lincolnshire-partnership)

Lincolnshire Housing Partnership (lincolnshirehp.com)

Platform Housing Group (platformhg.com)

Longhurst Group | (longhurst-group.org.uk)

13

SELCSP - South & East Lincolnshire Community 
Safety Partnership

BBC – Boston Borough Council

ELDC – East Lindsey District Council

SHDC – South Holland District Council

SLP - Safer Lincolnshire Partnership

CSP - Community Safety Partnership

CCTV - Closed Circuit Television

ASB - Anti-Social Behaviour

ASBRAC - Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment 
Conference

ANPR Automatic Number Plate Recognition

VAWG Violence Against Women & Girls

List of Acronyms 

P
age 35

https://www.mybostonuk.com/
https://www.e-lindsey.gov.uk/
https://www.sholland.gov.uk/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/
https://www.lincs.police.uk/
https://www.lincolnshire-pcc.gov.uk/home/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/lincolnshire-fire-rescue
https://lincolnshire.icb.nhs.uk/
https://www.lpft.nhs.uk/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/crime-prevention/safer-lincolnshire-partnership
https://www.lincolnshirehp.com/
https://www.platformhg.com/
https://www.longhurst-group.org.uk/


Sexual exploitation – Actual or attempted abuse of someone’s 
position of vulnerability, differential power or trust to obtain 
sexual favours, including but not only, by offering money or other 
social, economic or political advantages. It includes trafficking 
and prostitution. 

County lines – Where illegal drugs are transported from one area 
to another, often across police and local authority boundaries, 
usually by children or vulnerable people who are coerced into it 
by gangs. The ‘County Line’ is the mobile phone line used to take 
the order od drugs.

Serious & organised crime – Individuals planning, co-ordinating 
and committing serious offences, whether individually, in groups 
or as part of transnational networks. 

Beating crime plan – Government’s plan to deliver change to 
reduce crime and victims and create a safer country.

Safeguarding – The process, practice and culture embedded to 
create a safe environment where children, young people and 
adults at risk are free from all forms of harm, abuse and neglect.

Public Spaces Protection Orders – A power that local authorities 
can use to deal with a nuisance problem in a particular area that 
is detrimental to the community’s quality of life. Conditions can 
be imposed on the use of that area which apply to everyone.

14

Glossary

Hate Crime Charter – A series of commitments for agencies in 
Lincolnshire to fulfil in raising awareness of hate crime and 
hate incidents.

Operation California – Lincolnshire Police’s aim to prevent 
violence, anti-social behaviour and to tackle drugs along the 
coast.

Lincolnshire Concordat – Commitment of Lincolnshire 
agencies to work together to improve outcomes for women 
and girls at risk of entering, or who have already entered ,the 
criminal justice sector.

Safer Streets Fund – A Home Office fund allowing Police and 
Crime Commissioners and Local Authorities to apply for 
funding for crime prevention plans.  

White Ribbon Day – Annual campaign marking the start of 16 
days of action to end violence against women and girls.

Modern-day slavery – A serious crime that violates human 
rights, where victims are forced, threatened or deceived and 
controlled in order to exploit them.

P
age 36



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

FULL COUNCIL 
 

21st NOVEMBER 2022 
 
 

 
To receive the confirmed minutes  

of the meeting of the  
Audit and Governance Committee held on  

18th July 2022. 
 
 
 

Page 37

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



AUDIT & GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE 
 

18 July 2022 

Present: Councillor Peter Watson (Chairman),  (Vice-Chairman), Councillors 
Tom Ashton, Richard Austin BEM, Katie Chalmers, Anton Dani, Paul Goodale, 
Frank Pickett, Stephen Woodliffe and Mr Alan Pickering 
 
In attendance: Councillor Jonathan Noble, Portfolio Holder for Finance 
 
 
39   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the last meeting were agreed by the Committee and signed by the 
Chairman. 
 
40   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies of absence were received from Councillor Yvonne Stevens 
 
41   DECLARATION OF INTERESTS 

 
None 
 
42   PUBLIC QUESTIONS 

 
None 
 
43   RISK MANAGEMENT REPORT 

 
The Insights & Transformation Manager presented a report which provided an overview 
of risk management in the authority.  
 
In Section one of the report the Insights & Transformation Manager confirmed that 
Officers were looking to develop a strategic risk register for the Partnership in addition to 
the ones that were already in place. The combined strategic risk register would look into 
risks that were identical across all three Councils, with a view to enabling those risks to 
be managed centrally across the three authorities. It was confirmed that a report would 
be submitted to a future meeting of the Committee.  
 
Section two of the report set out the Strategic risk register which referenced the outcome 
of the two workshops that had been previously held to review the four corporate 
priorities.  
 
Some Members raised concerns relating to the retention and recruitment of staff and 
commented that under the partnership agreements it was important that Service 
Managers should retain the ability to recruit staff as necessary..  
 

ACTION: SR 

• Request the Economic Development Team to provide information in 
relation to National Grid infrastructure – wind power.  

• Request an update in relation to Environmental Crime in the 
waterways  

Page 39



Audit & Governance Committee 
18 July 2022 
 

• Discuss staffing recruitment and retention concerns at Risk Clinic  

• Include carbon impact from Russia and Ukraine in the quarter one 
review.  

 

RESOLVED: That the report be noted  

 
44   INTERNAL AUDIT ANNUAL REPORT 2021/22 

 
The Internal Audit Manager presented the Annual Internal Audit Report of the Council 
for 2021/22, which provided a summary of the audit work undertaken over the past year. 
It was recommended that the Committee; maintains oversight on actions from the 
annual governance statement, and that governance and oversight for procurement and 
ICT project Management were included in the annual governance statement.  
 
The Internal Audit Manager confirmed that a more in depth review of the Councils 
governance frameworks would begin next year. This would include interviewing 
members and key managers.  
 
Page 33 of the report set out an external assessment of the Internal Auditors, where 
they received full conformance – this gave members assurance that the Internal Audit 
Team were working in the right way to conform with national standards.  
 
On page 41 of the report the percentage of recommendation implemented was 80%, 
Members questioned if that was a cause for concern or if it was mainly down to timing. 
The Internal Audit Manager explained that it was a good percentage and it was a trend 
that was constantly monitored.  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Finance suggested that the Committee’s concerns regarding the 
failure to maintain an asset register be forwarded to the Assistant Director – General 
Fund Assets, The Assistant Director – Finance, confirmed that the 2021/2022 draft 
accounts will include a progress report on the audit recommendations. 
 

ACTION: SK 
Provide an update on the turnover of assets on a yearly basis. 

 

RESOLVED: That the report be noted.     

 
45   AUDITOR'S ANNUAL REPORT 

 
The Director – Public Services, Mazars introduced the Auditor’s annual report which 
related to the year ending March 2021.  
  
The Portfolio Holder for Finance raised a concern regarding the standards of the 
working papers which supported the figures within the financial statement, whether this 
issue was linked to staffing issues at PSPS and if that was the reason the audit cost 
increased from £54,000 to £70,000. The Director – Public Services, Mazars confirmed 
that a post implementation review was carried out alongside the Council’s finance team 
to diarise the current years audit and to work supportively to address those issues.  
 

Page 40



Audit & Governance Committee 
18 July 2022 

 

Following member questions the Assistant Director – Finance, explained that the 
Council’s usable reserves had increased from £16.5 million to £22.3 million in 2020/21 
as a result of a large amount of cash inflow from Central Government for COVID related 
expenditure.  
 

RESOLVED: That the report be noted 

 
46   AUDIT STRATEGY MEMORANDUM 

 
The Director – Public Services, Mazars introduced the Audit Strategy Memorandum 
which set out the external audit plan for the current financial year.  
 
The Director – Public Services, Mazars discussed in more detail two significant pages of 
the report; page 74 set out the intended timeframe for working which had been designed 
in co-ordination with the Council’s finance team, page 77 of the report pack set out the 
significant risks where Mazars intended to spend the majority of their time as a result of 
planning and interim work to date. There were three areas of significant risk which 
Mazars would spend more time reviewing the underlying working papers, namely:- 

• Management Override Controls 

• Local Government net defined benefit liability in respect of pension;  

• Valuation of land and building assets  
 

ACTION: SK 
Circulate information on the procedure and process in respect of the disposal of 
assets under the Officer Scheme of Delegation.  

 
Members were concerned that assets were being sold without the consideration of 
Members. Both the Portfolio Holder for finance and the Assistant Director – Finance 
confirmed that no assets had been sold recently. Members suggested that an Asset 
register report be brought to the Committee.  
 
Following a question from the Portfolio Holder the Internal Audit Manager confirmed that 
the Uniform system implementation had been removed due to operational delays.  
 

RESOLVED: That the report be noted 

 
47   TREASURY MANAGEMENT 

 
The Council was required under the Local Government Act 20003 to produce an annual 
treasury management review of activities and actual prudential and treasury indicators 
for 2021/22. The Interim Treasury & Investments Manager PSPS presented the report 
which provided key details on the outturn position for treasury activities and highlights 
compliance with Council policies previously approved by Members.  
 
Appendix A of the report contained the Annual Treasury Management Review of the 
Council’s activities and actual prudential and treasury indicators for 2021/22. The report 
covered the following areas;  

• An economic update for the 2021/22 financial year;  

• A review of the Council’s Investment portfolio for 2021/22;  

• A review of the Council’s borrowing strategy for 2021/22;  

Page 41



Audit & Governance Committee 
18 July 2022 
 

• Debt Position; 

• Compliance with Treasury and Prudential indicators.  
 
The Interim Treasury & Investment Manager PSPS informed the Committee that the 
figures in the report were subject to change as PSPS were in the process of completing 
the Council’s annual financial statements and were subject to external audit.  
In response to Member questions the Interim Treasury & Investments Manager PSPS 
confirmed that it was expected that investment returns would increase in the coming 
year due to concerns around interest rate increases. Investment balances that have a 
short term investment term would need to be actively managed to get higher rates of 
return, this would need to be within the agreed parameters of the Council’s risk which 
were set out in the Treasury Annual Strategy.  
 
Members questions whether the cost of managing the Council’s investments could be 
reduced. The Interim Treasury & Investment Manager confirmed that the chart on page 
119 of the agenda pack shows a figure of £537,000 is cash that the Council receive from 
the fund managers for a 12 month period after their fees have been deducted.  
 
The Portfolio Holder for finance confirmed that officers were looking for a better rate of 
return for investments and tbv he Assistant Director – Finance explained that officers 
were in the process of looking to migrate the investment funds from what was the notice 
accounts, low interest accounts in order to try and identify better investment 
opportunities for those funds. All investment opportunities would be in line with the 
Council’s Treasury management strategy.  
 

RESOLVED: That the report be noted 

 
48   WORK PROGRAMME 

 
The Committee noted the Work Programme.  
 
The Audit & Governance Training Programme was attached with the Work Programme.  
 
Members questioned whether the Constitution required members of Audit & Governance 
to participate in training in order to serve on the Committee. Members asked to be 
informed which training, if any, would be mandatory. 
 
 
 
 
 

The Meeting ended at 8.15 pm 
 

Page 42



1  

  

  

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:  Council 

DATE:  21st November 2022  

SUBJECT:  General Fund Revenue and Capital Outturn 2021/22  

KEY DECISION:  

    

PORTFOLIO HOLDER:  

N/A  

  

Councillor Jonathan Noble  

REPORT AUTHOR:  

  

WARD(S) AFFECTED:  

Chris Ayriss (Strategic Finance Manager PSPS) and Samantha Knowles 

(Assistant Director – Finance) 

N/A  

EXEMPT REPORT?  No  

  

SUMMARY  

This report sets out the draft financial position for Boston Borough Council for 2021/22.   

  

RECOMMENDATIONS  

That the Council:  

1 Approves the transfer of £1,830,999 to the Funding Volatility Reserve to fund the 2022/23 
budget, this being the Section 31 grant allocated to the Council in 2021/22 but required in 
2022/23.  
 

2 Approves to drawdown £1,864,887 from the Funding Volatility Reserve which is the Section 31 

grant set aside in 2020/21 to cover the reduced Business Rates received in 2021/22.  

   

3 Approve the final revenue surplus (currently estimated to be £165,024) be transferred to the 

Transformation Reserve to fund future projects which will help realise future revenue savings 

and service improvements. 

 

4 Approves the carry forward of Capital Budget of £3.55m as detailed in Table 6 of Appendix A. 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 4



2  

  

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

These recommendation are reserves and capital adjustments to Full Council as per the constitution 

and have been referred from Cabinet.  

  

OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

To not approve the reserve or capital adjustment movements outlined.  

 REPORT  

1.  BACKGROUND  

  

1.1  The 2021/22 year has seen the country move out of the pandemic response into a recovery 

phase. The Council is still seeing the effects of the pandemic on its finances which have been 

both positive and negative. This combined with the squeeze on household finances which has 

been seen in the latter part of the financial year, has meant it has been more difficult than 

usual to budget and forecast the financial position of the Authority. The draft underspend for 

the year is mainly as a result of increased one off government support and the review of its 

provisions. The details of the outturn are attached at Appendix A and show the full financial 

position of the Council which includes revenue, capital, treasury and collection fund.  

  

2. Quarter 3 to Quarter 4  

  

2.1  Throughout the year, quarterly monitoring reports are completed forecasting the expected 

year end outturn against the budget.  This report provides a summary on the provisional full 

year outturn at 31st March 2022, as illustrated in the Appendix, for the following areas:  

  

• The General Fund Revenue Budget,  

• The General Fund Reserves Position,  

• The Capital Outturn for 2021/22, and  

• High level Treasury Management Performance for the year.  

  

2.2 Members will recall that in the report to Cabinet at Quarter 3 a release of the covid Loss of 

Income Contingency took place of £729,000, offsetting losses in income across a variety of 

headings. It was also recommended that £256,000 be draw down from the Transformation 

Reserve that had been agreed for service improvement over the two years of initial 

investment. It should be noted that if these one-off funds had not been available the position 

at the year end would have been £1.198m worse off. Covid income grant of £469,000 was also 

received in year which has significantly assisted the revenue account. In the Quarter 3 report 

the forecast deficit was £299,000.  

  

2.3 The changes since then, which due to the uncertainty of this period could have been a 

worsening or an improvement in a variety of areas, have been overall a further improvement 

although some service areas also saw reductions in income:  

  

 

Page 44



3  

  

• Improvement in investment income from that expected due to rate rises;  

• Underachievement of car parking income from that anticipated;  

• Reductions in income – Bereavement;  

• Salary savings due to vacancies in certain areas;  

• The impact of year end adjustments – a review of bad debt provision levels  

• Planning services income was higher than anticipated and staffing vacancies have 

contributed to an improvement of £176k.  

  

2.4 In total, these further adjustments and as stated above the overall favourable position is 

mainly due to the receipt and use of one-off grants and reserves to smooth covid impacts.  

  

2.5 It is proposed (at recommendation 5) to transfer the proposed Revenue Surplus to the 

Transformation Reserve to fund future revenue projects. This will assist in making investment 

into services to facilitate change in a post-pandemic landscape and to fund ‘Invest to Save’ 

initiatives which will ultimately realise savings. This will help to meet the Council’s savings 

targets and to ensure it has more resilience to deal with the further budgetary challenges we 

are already facing.   

  

2.6 Other reserves are also available, such as the Capital Reserves (£5.6m), Funding Volatility 

(£4.99m) and Covid-19 reserve (£0.851m) to assist as needed during the year depending upon 

the pressure or type of investment required.  

  

2.7 In the attached Appendix A, specific detail is provided in respect of the following areas:  

  

General Fund Provisional Outturn   

The forecast outturn position by Assistant Director is detailed at Table 1 together with an 

analysis of service variations. Net spend by Assistant Directors for 2021/22 was reported to be 

£7,423k which is £524k below the budgeted figure. The variances are explained in Table 1.   

Reserves   

  

General Fund Specific Reserves have seen a reduction in balances of £2.067m. Further specific 

details are set out in Appendix A – Table 3 with associated narrative and members are 

requested to note and approve the use of reserves detailed in that section.  

  

The General Fund Reserve Balance remains at £2.000m.  

  

As previously featured in the 2020/21 outturn, government grant is received and applied in 

different financial years and as a result it is proposed at recommendation 2 to transfer 

£1,830,999 to the Business Rates Volatility Reserve in order to fund the 2022/23 revenue 

budget. This is a section 31 grant in order to fund discounts to Non-Domestic rates bills to 

businesses. Due to the way the income is accounted for in the Collection Fund the loss of 

income will impact on the Council’s revenue budget in 2022/23 and therefore the monies 

received in 2021/22 are required to fund this shortfall.  

  

Page 45



4  

  

 

Capital – General Fund  

  

The total revised General Fund Capital programme for 2021/22 is £5.593m, detailed in in Table 

4 of Appendix A.  

  

The total budget carry forward due to slippage on the GF Capital Programme is £3.550m as 

detailed in Table 6 which is recommended for approval. This is mainly due to Towns Fund 

Projects which are now being reprofiled in line with latest expectations for spend.  

  

Treasury Management  

  

Section 2.4 provides details of the Council’s Treasury Investments, investment income earned 

at the end of March 2022 was £775k.   

  

The Council has external loans held with Public Works Loans Board totalling £20m. Interest 

costs on this external borrowing was £382k for 2021/22.  

  

CONCLUSION  

  

To ensure that the end of year position is scrutinised, year end transactions are approved and the 

budget underspend is set aside for future service initiatives.  

  

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

  

As contained in Appendix A  

  

  

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

None  

 

CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENVIRONMENTAL IMPLICATIONS  

None  

  

EQUALITY AND SAFEGUARDING IMPLICATIONS  

None  

  

OTHER IMPLICATIONS  

None  

Page 46



5  

  

CONSULTATION  

None  

APPENDICES  

Appendix A – Outturn Report 2021-22  

  

BACKGROUND PAPERS  

Background papers used in the production of this report are listed below: -  

Document title  Where the document can be viewed  

Q3 Performance Report  Cabinet 30th March 2022 Agenda  

  

REPORT APPROVAL    

Report author:  Chris Ayriss, Strategic Finance Manager, PSPS  

Signed off by:  Samantha Knowles, Assistant Director Finance  

Approved for publication:  Councillor Noble Portfolio Holder for Finance  

   

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX A 

Boston Borough Council – Q4 Finance Report 2021/22 
 
Finance Summary 

• The revenue outturn shows a surplus position of £165k 

• Specific and general reserves of the Council are forecast to be £18.612m at 31 March 2022. 

• Capital spend at the end of Quarter 4 was £2.047m against a full year budget of £5.593m 

• After funding the 2021/22 Capital Programme the capital resources are: 
o Capital Reserve - £5.626m 
o Capital Receipts - £0.695m 

• The Council held investments of £24.7m as at 31 March 2022. 

Section 2 – Finance 

Section 2.1 Key Financial Issues in Quarter 4 of 2021/22 
Section 2.2 Revenue Budget 
Section 2.3 Capital Budget 
Section 2.4 Treasury Update 
Section 2.5 Insurance 
Section 2.6 Debt Collection 
Section 2.7 Business Rates and Council Tax Collection 
  

 

Section 2.1 – Key Financial Issues in Quarter 4 of 2021/22 

• On 7th January, HM Treasury issued a press release to announce new grant funding for business affected by 

the pandemic. The £700m will be delivered to affected businesses by local councils, with hospitality, leisure 

and accommodation businesses able to apply for one-off cash grants of up to £6,000.  

• On 15th February, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities issued a press release 

announcing £125m for councils to provide support services for domestic abuse victims during 2022/23. This 

funding is to go towards healthcare, social workers and benefits, interpreters, immigration advice and other 

specialist services. The funding will be issued as a non-ringfenced grant to councils, who will then be 

responsible for making decisions on how the funding is spent to benefit those in need. 

• On 20th March, the Department for Levelling up, Housing & Communities published a collection of 

documents regarding the Traveller Site Fund 2022/23. The fund is £10m of capital funding to support local 

authorities in building new transit and permanent traveller sites, to refurbish existing permanent traveller 

and transit sites and provide temporary stopping places and facilities for travellers. 

• On 23rd March the Department for Levelling Up, Housing & Communities published a prospectus providing 

guidance on submitting bids for local areas. The £4.8 billion fund will support town centre and high street 

regeneration, local transport projects, and cultural and heritage assets. 

 

 
Inflation 

January (%) February (%) March (%) 

CPI 5.5 6.2 7.0 

RPI 7.8 8.2 9.0 

 

 

 

 

Page 49



APPENDIX A 
 

Section 2.2 – Revenue Budget 

Table 1 details the outturn by Assistant Director.  This shows an underspend position of £165k.  

Table 1 – Net Spend by Assistant Director 

Assistant Director Area 

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£’000 

Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£’000 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 
  

£’000 

Comments on main variances 

Corporate 1,505 1,890 385 

Restructuring of budgets in line with 
PSPS contract costs which finance 
service improvements £344k these 
have been factored into the MTFS for 
2022/23 onwards.  

Economic Growth 119 247 128 
Economic Development Expenditure 
Funded from Reserves £142k. Staffing 
changes £30k. 

Finance 1,296 1,170 (126) 

Covid 19 grants from the government 
£(404)k and sales, fees and charges 
claim £(104)k for quarter one, less 
costs £186k. Restructuring of budgets 
in line with PSPS contract costs which 
finance service improvements saving 
£274k, these have been factored into 
the MTFS for 2022/23 onwards 

Governance 
796 608 (188) 

Election Costs Lower than expected 
£(42)k and savings on democratic 
services service £(99)k 

General Fund Assets (971) (825) 146 

Reduction in Car Parking Income and 
Income at PRSA. These have been 
partially offset by Covid Reserve 
Release. Release of grant funding held 
in reserve £142k. 

Leisure and Culture 761 761 - 

Reduction in Leisure Income which is 
not yet at pre-covid levels which is 
being regularly monitored. These have 
been offset by Covid Reserve Release 

Neighbourhoods 1,368 1,657 289 
Increased Recycling & Refuse costs 
£202k due to increased number of 
rounds.  

Planning & Strategic 
Infrastructure 

194 (133) (327) 

£(264)k additional income across the 
service area coupled with reduced 
costs. £176k of income has been 
transferred to reserves.   

Regulatory 507 (76) (583) 
Green Homes Grants and COVID 
funding received in year not fully 
expended, transferred to reserves. 

Wellbeing and 
Community Leadership 

1,656 1,487 (169) 

Housing Reserve Adjustments. 
Restructuring of budgets which has 
seen PSPS Contract Service 
improvements, these have been 
factored into the MTFS for 2022/23 
onwards 

Page 50



APPENDIX A 

Table 1 – Net Spend by Assistant Director 

Assistant Director Area 

Revised 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£’000 

Outturn 
2021/22 

 
£’000 

Variance 
(underspend)/ 

overspend 
  

£’000 

Comments on main variances 

BTAC 716 637 (79) 
The £79k underspend transferred to 
the BTAC Reserve, this is not part of 
the Council Reserves. 

Sub Total – Assistant 
Director – net costs 

7,948 7,423 (524)  

Internal Drainage 
Boards/Parish Precepts 

2,468 2,482 14 
Precepts £459k were shown in External 
Financing in Q3. 

Impairment Allowance 0 (193) (193) 
Reassessment of levels of bad debt 
provision required 

DRF 1,088 832 (256) 
This reflects capital programme activity 
and is offset by reserves. 

MRP 15 30 15 
The increase of MRP is as a result of 
valuations at 31st March 2022 and is 
funded from revenue resources. 

Interest Payments 
Received / Return on 
Property Funds 

(326) (475) (149) 

Budget reduced £196k in year to more 
accurately reflect investment predicted 
returns, investment income has 
increased in quarter four due to 
interest rate rises. 

Reserves (1,499) (1,987) (488) 

Use of reserves includes the following: 

• capital programme expenditure 

• release of previously received 
section 31 grant to cover the 
business rates deficit shown below 

• Release to offset income pressures 
due to Covid 

Transfer to reserves includes: 

• Housing Reserve Adjustment 

• Additional planning income  
£79k underspend on BTAC has been 
transferred to the BTAC Reserve, this is 
separate from the Council Reserves 

Non Service 
Expenditure 

1,745 689 (1,057)  

Total Expenditure 9,694 8,112 (1,582)  

Council Tax (5,042) (5,042) - 
Parish Precepts were shown here in Q3 
now moved above to non-service 
expenditure. 

Business Rates (1,327) 538 1,865 
This shortfall is covered by section 31 
grant received in 2020/21 and released 
from reserves above. 

Non Ring Fenced 
Government Grant 

(3,325) (3,773) (448) 
Section 31 grant received in 2020/21 
budgeted for here but released from 
reserves above 

Total Funding (9,694) (8,277) 1,417  

Total Budget -  
(Surplus)/Deficit 

0 (165) (165)  

 

 

 Page 51



APPENDIX A 

Recommendation: 
1 Notes the provisional year end position, variations to the 2021/22 approved budget and resulting effect on 

the Council's balances and reserves as shown in Appendix A. 

 

Additional revenue budget notes 

Income 

The Council has a number of demand-led budget areas which are reliant on income for services provided. 

Table 2 – Trading Income Budgets 

Income Area 
Revised 

Budget to 31 
March 2022 

 
£’000 

Actual 
Income to 
31 March 

2022 
 

£’000 

 
 

Variance 
(above)/ 

below 
budget 

 
£’000 

Comments 

GF - Car Parking, 
Bereavement, and Property  

(1,926) (1,655) 271 Income has suffered in Parking 
requiring £225k smoothing from the 
Covid Reserve, reduced income in 
bereavement £47k which improved 
on the Q3 position. 

Leisure Pool, and Markets 

(1,002) (638) 364 

Leisure Pool has seen a £352k 
shortfall of income, with Markets 
experiencing a £14k shortfall due to 
Covid 

Neighbourhoods – Office 
Cleaning, Recycling 

(959) (1,044) (85)  

Additional resources for DWP, 
Garden Waste income above budget 
£16k. Cleaner Income up £57k 

Development Management 
(566) (690) (124)  

Application income has exceeded 
full year budget expectation. 

Regulatory – Land Charges, 
Licences 

(391) (373) 18 

Vacant Post, reduced Income, 
Tranche 1 of land charges income 
due before 31.03.2022 

Bed & Breakfast (54) (68) (14)  Increase in Income 

Total (4,898) (4,468) 430  

Page 52



APPENDIX A 
Reserves 

At 31 March 2022 specific reserves are forecast to be £16.612m, after a net transfer from reserves of £2.067m to 

cover revenue and capital expenditure.  Table 3 reflects the outturn position. 

Table 3 – Specific and General Reserves Balance 

Reserve 
Balances at 1 April 

2021 
£’000 

Contributions into 
Reserves 

£’000 

Use of Reserves 
 

£’000 

Balances at 31 
March 2022 

£’000 

Capital Funding 5,339 995 (708) 5,626 

Transformation 1,745 769 (1,058) 1,457 

Repairs and 
Renewals 

725 54 (82) 697 

ICT 276 - (188) 88 

Housing 1,247 297 (31) 1,513 

Controlling 
Migration 

14 - - 14 

Insurance 274 - (14) 260 

Property Fund 
Returns Risk 
Mitigation 

1,116 - - 1,116 

Funding Volatility 6,521 1,831 (3,361) 4,991 

Covid 19 1,422 197 (768) 851 

Specific Reserves 
Total 

18,679 4,143 (6,210) 16,612 

General Fund 2,000 - - 2,000 

Total 20,679 4,143 (6,210) 18,612 

 

Please note the following reserve movements that have taken place in 2021/22: 

• Capital Funding 

o Additions to – New Homes Bonus, property fund interest, investment payback and revenue payback 

for previous purchases. 

o Use of reserve – for the capital projects: vehicle replacements, noise monitoring equipment, 

resurfacing and footpaths, recycling bin purchases and ICT upgrades. 

• Transformation 

o Additions to – cover costs of future council elections and planning fees 

o Use of reserve – Community Champion funding, Sport England and refuse rounds review. 

• Repair and Renewals 

o Additions to – CCTV contributions from other local authorities 

o Use of reserve – Town centre heritage ongoing capital project 

• ICT 

o Use of reserve – ICT infrastructure refresh 

• Housing 

o Additions to – Homelessness funding, rough sleeper initiative and funding from partners for Healthy 

and Accessible Homes Lincs 

o Use of reserve – DASH funding and housing strategy capital project.  

• Insurance 

o Use of reserve – to cover insurance claims made in year 

 

• Funding Volatility  

o Additions to – additional Section 31 grant above budgeted level and CARF funding to be utilised in 

future years. Page 53



APPENDIX A 
o Use of Reserve – to fund business rates deficit and Economic Development Expenditure. 

• Covid 19 

o Additions to – New Burdens funding 

o Use of Reserve – Test and Trace, and to fund income pressures during the year. 

RECOMMENDATIONS  
2 
 
 
 
3  

Recommends to Council to transfer £1,830,999 to the Funding Volatility Reserve to fund the 
2022/23 budget, this being the Section 31 grant allocated to the Council in 2021/22 but required in 
2022/23. 
 
Notes and approved the use of reserves in table 3 at Appendix A.  

4 Recommends to Council to drawdown £1,864,887 from the Funding Volatility Reserve which is the 
Section 31 grant set aside in 2020/21 to cover the reduced Business Rates received in 2021/22.  

5 Recommends to Council that the final revenue surplus (currently estimated to be £165,024) be 
transferred to the Transformation Reserve to fund future projects which will help realise future 
revenue savings and service improvements.  

  

 

Section 2.3 – Capital Budget 

This section covers: 

• Revisions to the Capital Programme 

• Progress against the 2021/22 approved capital programme and the anticipated outturn 

• Financing of the Capital Programme 

  

Page 54



APPENDIX A 

Table 4 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q4 Outturn Expenditure 

 Capital Programme 2020/21 Funding of the Capital Programme 

Scheme Approved 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£000 

Actual 
2021/22 

 
 

£000 

Variance 
(Under)/over  

 
 

£000 

External 
Grants  

 
 

£000 

Revenue 
Funding 

 
 

£000 

Other 
Reserves 

 
 
 

£000 

Capital 
Reserve 

 
 

£000 

Capital 
Receipts 

 
 

£000 

Total 
 
 
 

£000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 949 778 (171) 778     778 

Housing Strategy 56 - (56)      - 

Noise Monitoring 
Equipment 

10 10 -    10  10 

Resurfacing and Footpath 
Improvements 

82 
12 (70)    12  12 

Town Centre Heritage 
Scheme (PSICA 2) 

1,397 154 (1,243) 92  62   154 

Multi Use Games Area 23 6 (17) 6     6 

Information Technology 
Refresh 

200 187 (13)   187   187 

ICT Finance Upgrade via 
PSPS 

634 362 (272)    362  362 

Ford Transit Tipper Van 
2.0 TDCi x 2 

22 - (22)      - 

Refuse Vehicle 170 172 2    172  172 

Ransomes Mower 20 - (20)      - 

Ford Vans x 2 23 - (23)      - 

Recycling Bin Purchase 24 28 4    28  28 

Total Non-Towns Fund 
Schemes 

3,610 1,709 (1,901) 876 - 249 584 - 1,709 

          

Boston Town Deal – 
Accelerated Funding 

400 
148 (252) 148     148 

Towns Fund – Leisure - 86 86 86     86 

Towns Fund – Mayflower 108 6 (102) 6     6 

Towns Fund – St 
Botolph’s Library 

228 
6 (222) 6     6 

P
age 55



APPENDIX A 

Table 4 – 2021/22 Capital Programme and Q4 Outturn Expenditure 

 Capital Programme 2020/21 Funding of the Capital Programme 

Scheme Approved 
Budget 

2021/22 
 

£000 

Actual 
2021/22 

 
 

£000 

Variance 
(Under)/over  

 
 

£000 

External 
Grants  

 
 

£000 

Revenue 
Funding 

 
 

£000 

Other 
Reserves 

 
 
 

£000 

Capital 
Reserve 

 
 

£000 

Capital 
Receipts 

 
 

£000 

Total 
 
 
 

£000 

Towns Fund – Centre for 
Food and Fresh Produce 
Logistics 

401 
18 (383) 18     18 

Towns Fund – Blenkin 
Memorial Hall 

808 
62 (746) 62     62 

Towns Fund – Healing the 
High Street 

35 
6 (29) 6     6 

Towns Fund – Boston 
Station 

3 
6 3 6     6 

Total Towns Fund 
Schemes 

1,983 338 (1,645) 338 - - - - 338 

          

Total 5,593 2,047 (3,546) 1,214 - 249 584 - 2,047 

 

  

P
age 56



APPENDIX A 
 

Table 4 – Capital Programme – Comments on Delivery  

Scheme Comments 

Disabled Facilities 
Grants 

2021/22 grant allocation fully delivered, slippage required of prior year 
grant. 

Noise Monitoring 
Equipment 

Scheme fully delivered. 

Resurfacing and 
Footpath 
Improvements 

Continuation of previous scheme across various sites although 
predominantly around Boston Cemetery and Crematorium. Slippage 
required into 2022/23. 

Town Centre Heritage 
Scheme (PSICA 2) 

Delivery of projects continuing, slippage required into 2022/23. 

ICT Finance Upgrade 
via PSPS 

Project to be finalised in July 2022, slippage of remaining budget 
required. 

Fleet Replacement 
Order placed, vehicles expected to be received in year. Long lead times 
for vehicle orders which are subject to delays. Slippage required into 
2022/23. 

Recycling Bin Purchase Year’s quota of bins delivered. 

Towns Fund 
Business Cases were signed off in March 2022 leading to slippage of 
various schemes. 

 

Capital Receipts 

None to report this period. 

Capital Financing 

The current Capital Programme is financed from reserves and external borrowing in line with the Capital Strategy. 

Table 5 indicates the forecast capital resources available to the Council at the end of 2021/22.  The estimated 

position for the following two years is also provided. 

Table 5 – Capital Resources 

 
2020/21 

£’000 
2021/22 

£’000 
2022/23 

£’000 
Capital Resources* available at start of each year 5,822 5,578 6,320 

Capital Investment (estimate in future years) (3,436) (2,047) (6,862) 

Additional Sources of Finance    

- New Capital Receipts (estimate in future years) - 456 - 

- Funding from other reserves and internal borrowing 193 249 170 

- External Grants 1,449 1,214 4,974 

- Revenue Contributions - - - 

- External borrowing - - - 

- Budgeted contributions to capital reserve 1,565 995 333 

- Minimum Revenue Provision (15) (15) (15) 

- Transfer from Capital Reserve to support ongoing projects - (110) (100) 

Estimated Capital Resources* at end of each year 5,578 6,320 4,820 

* Capital Reserve and Capital Receipts 

As a result of the variances shown in Table 4 and Table 5, changes are required to the 2022/23 Capital Programme. 

These are reflected in the revised Capital Programme shown in Table 6. The slippage of expenditure into 2022/23 

will be funded in line with the approval already obtained for the relevant project.  

 

 
Page 57



APPENDIX A 

Table 6 – Revised Capital Programme 2022/23 

Scheme 

Approved Budget (as 
per Council) 

 
£’000 

Changes to 
approved 

budget 
 

£’000 

Revised Capital 
Programme  

 
 

£’000 

Disabled Facilities Grants 280 171 451 

Housing Strategy - 56 56 

Resurfacing and Footpath Improvements - 70 70 

Vehicle Replacement Programme 215 63 278 

Town Centre Heritage Scheme 42 1,243 1,285 

Multi Use Games Area - 17 17 

Information Technology Refresh 170 13 183 

ICT Finance Upgrade via PSPS - 272 272 

NON TOWNS FUND PROJECTS 707 1,905 2,612 

Boston Town Deal – Accelerated Funding - 252 252 

Leisure 2,935 (86) 2,849 

Mayflower 720 102 822 

St Botolph’s Library - 222 222 

Centre for Food and Fresh Produce 
Logistics 453 

383 836 

Blenkin Memorial Hall 99 746 845 

Healing the High Street 283 29 312 

Boston Station 1,565 (3) 1,562 

TOWNS FUND PROJECTS 6,055 1,645 7,700 

GRAND TOTAL 6,762 3,550 10,312 

 

Recommendation: 
6 
 
7 

That Cabinet notes the 2021/22 capital position shown in Table 4 and agrees the changes required to the 
Capital Programme for 2022/23. 
That Cabinet Recommend to Council the carry forward of Capital Budget of £3.55m as detailed in Table 6. 

 

Section 2.4 – Treasury Management 

Investments at 31 March 2022 

During the financial year the Council has made investments in line with the agreed Treasury Management Strategy. 

Detailed in Table 7 are the investments held by the Council at 31st March 2022 excluding accrued interest.  Note this 

represents the position at this one point in time.  The peaks and troughs in cash flow are managed on a daily basis.  

Because the Council collects money on behalf of other organisations which are paid out at future dates (e.g. Council 

Tax and Business Rates) the value of investments held at any point in time does not represent the value of Boston’s 

own resources. 

Table 7 – Investments as at 31 March 2022 

Financial Institution Amount (£) Maturity Date Yield 

HSBC Bank  10,740,000 Instant Access  0.01% 

CCLA Money Market Fund  3,000,000 Instant Access   0.58% 

Barclays Bank 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.95% 

Lloyds Bank 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.10% 

Santander 3,000,000 95-day notice 0.55% 

Bank of Scotland  2,000,000 175-day notice 0.11% 

TOTAL 24,740,000   

 Page 58



APPENDIX A 
 

Maturity Structure at 31 March 2022 

Duration Amount (£) Percentage of Total 

Less than one week 13,740,000 30% 

Less than one month -   0% 

One to three months -   0% 

Three to six months 11,000,000 24% 

Six to nine months - 0% 

Nine to twelve months - 0% 

More than twelve months 20,989,786 46% 

 

The Council has purchased property fund units and the table below provides a breakdown in relation to the purchase 

of these units: 

Fund Date of 
Purchase 

Net Asset 
Value at Date 
of Purchase 

£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
£ 

Premium/ 
(Discount) on 

Purchase 
% 

Total Cost 
 
 

£ 

Black Rock UK Property 
Fund  

 

 

05/08/16 
30/12/16 
28/09/18 

TOTAL 

255,085 
255,085 

3,945,592 
4,455,762 

(5,102) 
(5,103) 
54,449 
44,244 

(2.00) 
(2.00) 
1.38 
0.99 

249,983 
249,982 

4,000.041 
4,500,006 

Schroder UK Real Estate 
Fund 

05/08/16 
03/09/18 

TOTAL 

250,000 
4,020,006 
4,270,006 

- 
(20,000) 
(20,000) 

 

- 
(0.50) 
(0.47) 

250,000 
4,000,006 
4,250,006 

Threadneedle Property 
Unit Trust 

31/08/16 
31/08/18 
28/09/18 
31/10/18 

TOTAL 

263,549 
2,902,441 

483,966 
483,930 

4,133,886 

(13,177) 
86,572 
16,116 
16,357 

105,868 

(5.00) 
2.98 
3.33 
3.38 
2.56 

 

250.372 
2,989,013 

500,082 
500,287 

4,239,754 

M&G Investments UK 
Property Fund 

 
14/09/18 

 
3,911,980 

 
88,020 

 
2.25 

 
4,000,000 

AEW UK Core Property 
Fund 

 
31/10/18 

 
3,745,319 

 
254,681 

 
6.80 

 
4,000,000 

TOTAL  20,516,953 472,813 2.30 20,989,766 

Page 59



APPENDIX A 

Property Fund Investments as at 31st March 2022 

 

The Projected Annualised Distribution Yield is the projected yield for the year based on dividends already received during the current financial year.  

The 2021/22 Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss is the projected gain/loss in the capital value of the fund since the start of the financial year calculated by 

reference to the change in the Net Asset Value from 31 March 2021 to the period end. 

The estimated combined return is the total of the Projected Dividend Distribution Yield and the Annualised Fund Capital Gain/Loss. 
Please note that this is the position as at 31 March 2022 and the capital values will fluctuate year on year. 

Financial Institution Purchase 
Cost 
(£) 

Estimates 
Revenue 
Received 

2021/22 (£) 

Projected 
Annualised 
Distribution 

Yield 
2021/22 

 

Net  Asset 
 Value  

(£) 

Total 
Gain/(Loss) 

Since 
Purchase (£) 

2021/22 
Annual 
Gain/ 
(Loss) 

(£) 

2021/22 
Annualised 

Fund Capital 
Gain/(Loss) 

Since 1/4/21 

2021/22 
Estimated 
Combined 

Return 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  4,500,006 127,996 2.95% Estimate 5,191,286 691,280 787,809 14.81% 17.76% 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  4,250,006 132,465 3.22% Estimate 4,903,231 653,225 648,380 15.23% 18.45% 

Threadneedle Property Unit 
Trust 

4,239,754 163,473 3.96% Estimate 4,476,361 236,607 
646,040 

 
16.87% 20.83% 

M&G Investments 

UK Property Fund 
4,000,000 131,012 2.49% Estimate 3,699,460 (300,540) 221,662 6.37% 8.86% 

AEW UK Core Property Fund  4,000,000 155,301 3.49% Estimate 4,065,606 65,606 539,619 15.30% 18.79% 

         

TOTAL 20,989,766 710,247  22,335,944 1,346,178 2,843,510   

P
age 60



APPENDIX A 

An analysis of dividend distributions received and borrowing costs incurred since the purchase of the property funds to 31 March 2022 can be found in the 

table below: 

 

Financial Institution Actual   Dividend 
Distributions 
Received Pre 

2021/22 

Budgeted 
Distribution  
for 2021/22 

Estimated 
Dividend 

Distributions 
Received 2021/22 

Total 
Distributions 

Received Since 
Purchase 

BlackRock UK Property Fund  400,232 159,997 135,025 535,257 

Schroder UK Real Estate Fund  336,300 159,998 142,395 478,695 

Threadneedle Property Unit Trust 467,273 178,005 169,123 636,396 

M&G Investments UK Property Fund  342,569 120,000 115,993 458,562 

AEW UK Core Property Fund 441,967 144,000 181,001 622,968 

Total Revenue 1,988,341 762,000 743,537 2,731,878 

Borrowing Costs   (903,772) (382,389) (382,389) (1,286,161) 

Net Revenue Position 1,084,569 379,611 361,148 1,445,717 

P
age 61



APPENDIX A 
Return on Investments 

The Council’s 2021/22 budget for investment income is £820k. At the end of March 2022 investment income earned 

was approximately £775k which was £45k below the profiled budget. 

Treasury investments achieved an average rate of 0.133% compared to the benchmark average 3-month SONIA rate 

of 0.087%. 

Property fund investments are estimated to have achieved an estimated average rate of 3.542%. 

The combined rate achieved on all investments was estimated to be approximately 1.74%. 

Borrowing 

The Council has £15.449m of external PWLB borrowing as per the table below. 

 

Entity Amount (£) Start Date Maturity Date Rate 

Public Works Loan Board 10,000,000 10/12/2018 10/12/2068 2.54% 

Public Works Loan Board   4,000,000 13/12/2018 13/12/2068 2.42% 

Public Works Loan Board 
 

  1,449,000 27/03/2019 27/03/2069 2.18% 

TOTAL 15,449,000   2.475% 

Average 

 

Interest costs for 2021/22 on this borrowing are £382,388. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 62



APPENDIX A 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Borrowing Rates 

PWLB borrowing rates have risen in March in line with the Bank of England Base rate rise to 0.75% on 17th March. 

There was a fall in PWLB rates in the days leading up to Financial Year End and as at 31st March 2022 the 50 year 

PWLB certainty rate was 2.05%. The PWLB increase since December 2021 reflects the inflationary pressures in the 

economy due to the Ukraine war, utility price increases and wage growth pressure. The temporary fall in PWLB rates 

w/c 28th March most likely relates to Year End and funding needs as at 31st March. 

 

Summary 

Interest rates rose but remained historically low during March 2022.  The Bank of England Base Rate rose from 
0.50% to 0.75% in March. Market expectations are for further rate hikes during 2022/23 and at the time of writing 
this report it had already increased to 1.25%. With the economy growing post pandemic, focus for the MPC will 
firmly be on tackling inflationary pressures. Retail Prices Index inflation was at 7% at the end of the financial year and 
at the time of writing this report had increased to 11.7% for May 22 with the added pressure on utilities and grain 
from the war in Ukraine.  
 
Rates on new investments with financial institutions and local authorities now range from 1.20% for one-month 
deposits through to 2.75% for one-year deposits. One year deposit rates have risen sharply, reflecting the Base rate 
rise to 1.25% and the market sentiment that rates will continue to rise to fight inflation. 
 
PWLB borrowing rates have risen during March. PWLB rates, especially long dates such as 50yrs, have risen due to 
inflationary concerns. The energy/oil price rises combined with the wage growth pressure in the UK economy are 
having a large impact on inflation indexes. The PWLB Rates dropped at the end of March but these have 
subsequently increased in the first quarter of the 2022/23 financial year and currently stands at 3.37% for a 50 year 
maturity loan. 
 
Risks prevail in the financial markets and are subject to a continued high level of scrutiny with any significant issues 
arising being reported to the Council’s Audit and Governance Committee. Changes to credit ratings of financial 
institutions are monitored daily and where required reported to the Section 151 Officer for an agreed course of 
action to be taken. 
 

Page 63



APPENDIX A 
Section 2.5 – Insurance 

2021/22 Claims Statistics 

Table 8 details the number of formal insurance claims for Quarter 4 of 2021/22 (figures in brackets are comparable 

figures for 2020/21). 

 

Table 8 – Insurance Claims 

 Quarter 1 Quarter 2 Quarter 3 Quarter 4 Total 

Public Liability 0(1) 1(1) 1(2) 2(0) 4(4) 

Employers Liability 0(1) 0(0) 1(0) 1(0) 2(1) 

Motor 1(1) 2(1) 2(2) 5(1) 10(5) 

Property 0(0) 0(0) 0(1) 0(0) 0(1) 

Officers Indemnity 0(0) 0(0) 0(2) 0(1) 0(3) 

Total 1(3) 3(2) 4(7) 8(2) 16(14) 

 

Insurance Reserves 

The Council maintains an insurance reserve for smaller value insurance claims where the losses are below the 

principal deductible of £25,000.   

At the end of 2021/22 the balance on the reserve was £260k, and this balance is monitored on a regular basis to 

ensure that the value of the reserve is sufficient to meet future liabilities. 

 

Section 2.6 – Debt Collection 

An analysis of the sundry debts the Council held as at 31 March 2022 is show in Table 9. 

Table 9 – Sundry Debt Analysis 

0-30 days 
 

£ 

31-60 days 
 

£ 

61-90 days 
 

£ 

91-120 
days 

 
£ 

121-183 
days 

£ 

184-365 
days 

£ 

Over 365 
days 

£ 

Total 
 

£ 

279,518 68,596 19,808 13,093 86,712 95,195 210,234 773,156 

 

Note: This does not include details of invoice amounts (£656,138) that are not yet due 

 

Section 2.7 – Council Tax and Business Rates 

Council Tax Support Scheme (CTS) 

Following the statutory annual review during 2020/21, the 2021/22 scheme remains unchanged from the previous 

year, allowing for national up-ratings.  This scheme continues to support the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda 

to bring further reductions to the national benefits bill. The scheme sustains the required protection of those of 

pension age, protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into employment.  

Quarter 4 collection rate remains lower than pre-covid.  The Council Tax Support caseload is now lower than pre-

covid levels. There remains some uncertainty of the overall ongoing impact on collection and recovery as a result of 

covid.  In recognition, we continue to remain prudent in setting the bad debt provision in this area. 

Page 64



APPENDIX A 
Council Tax – Quarter 4 In-Year Collection 

The collectable debit for 2022/23 was £38m with a collection rate of 94.01% achieved at 31 March 2022 (94.23% at 

31 March 2021). 

 

Business Rates 

Table 10 – 2021/22 Business Rates Retention 

 

Base Estimate 
included in 

2021/22 budget 
£ 

Forecast position 
at 31 March 2022 

 
£ 

(Surplus)/Deficit 
in 2021/22 – will 

impact next year’s 
budget 

£ 

Non Domestic rating income for the year (20,507,213) (16,080,480) 4,426,733 

Less: LCC share (10% for 21/22) 2,050,721 1,608,048 (442,673) 

Less: Government Share (50% for 21/22) 10,253,607 8,040,240 (2,213,367) 

Boston Borough Council’s income (excluding 
renewables) (40% for 21/22) 

(8,202,885) (6,432,192) 1,770,693 

 

The position in Table 10 shows a large deficit against the base estimate, the main reason for this is the retail discount 

offered by the government in response to the Coronavirus pandemic to assist retailers. This discount is reimbursed 

by the government however due to the way the Collection Fund is accounted for the income is received in 2021/22 

but the Business Rates deficit will not be seen in the Council’s accounts until 2022/23. As a result of this £1.8m of 

additional income was received in 2021/22 and this has been transferred into reserves at the end of the financial 

year for use in the 2022/23 budget. The difference between this income and the deficit above is due to a reduction 

in gross rates across all businesses which is being closely monitored. 

 

Business Rates Appeals 

Except in certain circumstance, new appeals can no longer be made against the 2010 list. 

As at 31 March 2022 the Rateable Value amount for properties under appeal in 2010 list (excluding multiple appeals 

for the same property) was £2.1m, relating to 8 properties on the latest list of outstanding appeals. 94% of this value 

comes from just 1 property and does present some significant risk to the overall level of collectable debit should 

these appeals be successful, leading to significant reductions in rateable value. The appeals provision (£1.660m) is 

considered sufficient to cover the potential impact of these appeals. 

Business Rates – 2021/22 In-Year Collection 

The collectable debit for 2022/23 was £17.3m with a collection rate of 94.08% achieved at 31 March 2022 (95.82% at 

31 March 2021).  Due to the continued application of some COVID related additional reliefs in 2021/22 the 

collectable debit remains lower than usual.  This makes comparison to pre-covid collection rates less meaningful. 

 

The Covid Additional Relief Fund (CARF) scheme will provide rate relief support against 2021/22 financial year for 

businesses impacted by covid but who have not been supported through other relief schemes.  This relief will be 

awarded in June 2022. 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 67

Agenda Item 6
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A. MINUTES
	Exempt Minute - 26 September 2022

	1 South and East Lincolnshire Community Safety Strategy
	Appendix A - South  East Lincolnshire Community Safety Strategy V6

	2 Audit & Governance Committee Minutes
	A&G Minutes - 18 July

	4 Financial Outturn 2021/22
	Appendix A - Outturn Report 2021-22

	6 Honorary Freedom of the Borough

